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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

KOHL’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited)
(Dollars in Millions) May 2, 2020 February 1, 2020 May 4, 2019
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,039 [$ 723 $ 543
Merchandise inventories 3,557 3,537 3,680
Income tax receivable 174 15 15
Other 400 374 397
Total current assets 6,170 4,649 4,635
Property and equipment, net 7,169 7,352 7,211
Operating leases 2,373 2,391 2,453
Other assets 157 163 167
Total assets $ 15,869 [$ 14,555 [$ 14,466
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,866 [$ 1,206 [$ 1,295
Accrued liabilities 1,070 1,233 1,184
Income taxes payable 68 48 40
Current portion of:
Finance lease and financing obligations 124 124 115
Operating leases 159 158 158
Total current liabilities 3,287 2,769 2,792
Long-term debt 3,449 1,856 1,855
Finance lease and financing obligations 1,351 1,367 1,225
Operating leases 2,605 2,619 2,680
Deferred income taxes 165 260 233
Other long-term liabilities 222 234 239
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock 4 4 4
Paid-in capital 3,289 3,272 3,223
Treasury stock, at cost (11,593) (11,571) (11,221)
Retained earnings 13,090 13,745 13,436
Total shareholders’ equity $ 4,790 [$ 5,450 |$ 5,442
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity S 15,869 [$ 14,555 [$ 14,466

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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KOHL’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited)
Quarter Ended

(Dollars in Millions, Except per Share Data) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019
Net sales $ 2,160 ($ 3,821
Other revenue 268 266
Total revenue 2,428 4,087
Cost of merchandise sold 1,787 2,415
Operating expenses:

Selling, general, and administrative 1,066 1,275

Depreciation and amortization 227 230

Impairments, store closing, and other costs 66 49
Operating (loss) income (718) 118
Interest expense, net 58 52
(Loss) income before income taxes (776) 66
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (235) 4
Net (loss) income $ (541) [$ 62
Net (loss) income per share:

Basic $ (3.52) |$ 0.38

Diluted $ (3.52) 0.38

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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KOHL’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Unaudited)
Quarter Ended

(Dollars in Millions, Except per Share Data) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019
Common stock

Balance, beginning of period $ 4% 4

Stock-based awards — —

Balance, end of period $ 4 ($ 4
Paid-in capital

Balance, beginning of period $ 3,272 |$ 3,204

Stock-based awards 17 19

Balance, end of period $ 3,289 [$ 3,223
Treasury stock, at cost

Balance, beginning of period $ (11,571)[$ (11,076)

Treasury stock purchases (8) (121)

Stock-based awards (20) (25)

Dividends paid 6 1

Balance, end of period $ (11,593) [$ (11,221)
Retained earnings

Balance, beginning of period S 13,745 |$ 13,395

Change in accounting standard (a) — 88

Net (loss) earnings (541) 62

Dividends paid (114) (109)

Balance, end of period $ 13,090 [$ 13,436
Total shareholders' equity, end of period $ 4,790 [$ 5,442
Common stock

Shares, beginning of period 375 374

Stock-based awards 2 1

Shares, end of period 377 375
Treasury stock

Shares, beginning of period (219) (211)

Treasury stock purchases — (2)

Shares, end of period (219) (213)
Total shares outstanding, end of period 158 162
Dividends paid per common share $ 0.704 |$ 0.67
(a) Adoption of new lease accounting standard in 2019.

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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KOHL’S CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
Quarter Ended
(Dollars in Millions) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019
Operating activities
Net (loss) income (541) |$ 62
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 227 230
Share-based compensation 15 15
Deferred income taxes (91) 18
Impairments, store closing, and other costs 51 49
Non-cash inventory costs 187 —
Non-cash lease expense 37 37
Other non-cash expenses 5 2
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Merchandise inventories (205) (202)
Other current and long-term assets (21) 6
Accounts payable 660 108
Accrued and other long-term liabilities (98) (141)
Income taxes (139) 1
Operating lease liabilities (34) (49)
Net cash provided by operating activities 53 136
Investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment (162) (238)
Net cash used in investing activities (162) (238)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of debt 2,097 —
Deferred financing costs (19) —
Treasury stock purchases (8) (121)
Shares withheld for taxes on vested restricted shares (20) (25)
Dividends paid (108) (108)
Reduction of long-term borrowings (497) (6)
Finance lease and financing obligation payments (23) (31)
Proceeds from stock option exercises — 2
Proceeds from financing obligations 3 —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,425 (289)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,316 (391)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 723 934
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 2,039 [$ 543
Supplemental information
Interest paid, net of capitalized interest 39 [$ 32
Income taxes paid 1 7
Property and equipment acquired through:
Finance lease liabilities 8 10
Operating lease liabilities 20 49

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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KOHL’S CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for fiscal year end
Consolidated Financial Statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair
presentation have been included. For further information, refer to the Consolidated Financial Statements and related footnotes included in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 1, 2020 (Commission File No. 1-11084) as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

E

Due to the seasonality of the business of Kohl's Corporation (the “Company,” “Kohl’s,” “we,” “our,” or “us”) and the uncertainty surrounding the financial
impact of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic, results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for a full
fiscal year.

We operate as a single business unit.
Accounting Policies

The accounting policies the Company follows are set forth in its most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K. There have been no material changes to
these accounting policies except as discussed below.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. We believe that
our accounting estimates are appropriate after incorporating the increased uncertainties surrounding the severity and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Leases

In the first quarter of 2020, we negotiated rent deferrals for a significant number of our stores, with repayment at later dates, primarily in the third and fourth
quarter of 2020 and first and second quarter of 2021. These concessions provide a deferral of rent payments with no substantive changes to the original
contract. Consistent with updated guidance from the FASB in April 2020, we have elected to treat the COVID-19 pandemic-related rent deferrals as accrued
liabilities. We will continue to recognize expense during the deferral periods.

Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market using the Retail Inventory Method ("RIM"). Under RIM, the valuation of inventory at cost
and the resulting gross margins are calculated by applying a cost-to-retail ratio to the retail value of inventory. RIM is an averaging method that has been
widely used in the retail industry due to its practicality. The use of RIM will result in inventory being valued at the lower of cost or market since permanent
markdowns are taken as a reduction of the retail value of inventories. A reserve would be recorded if the future estimated selling price is less than cost.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and store closures, we recorded a reserve of $163 million for excess seasonal inventory where the expected selling
price is less than cost for the quarter ended May 2, 2020. No reserve was recorded as of February 1, 2020 or May 4, 2019. In addition, $24 million of
inventory was written off during the first quarter of 2020 as there was no future recoverable value.
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KOHL’S CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Property and Equipment and Long Lived Assets

All property and equipment and other long-lived assets are reviewed for potential impairment at least annually or when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the asset’s carrying value may not be recoverable. If such indicators are present, it is determined whether the sum of the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows attributable to such assets is less than the carrying value of the assets. A potential impairment has occurred if projected
future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value of the assets. Given the substantial reduction in our sales and the reduced cash flow
projections as a result of the store closures due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we determined that a triggering event occurred in the first quarter of 2020 and
an impairment assessment was warranted for certain stores and other long lived assets. Based on this assessment, we recorded impairment charges of
$51 million in the first quarter of 2020 in Impairments, store closing, and other costs. In connection with the closure of four stores in the first quarter of 2019,
we recorded impairment charges of $49 million in the first quarter of 2019 in Impairments, store closing, and other costs.

As of May 2, 2020, we had assets held for sale of $24 million.
Restructuring Reserve

The following table summarizes changes in the restructuring reserve during the quarter ended May 2, 2020:

(Dollars In Millions) Severance
Balance - February 1, 2020 5 27
Payments and reversals (16)
Additions 2
Balance - May 2, 2020 5 13

Charges related to corporate restructuring efforts are recorded in Impairments, store, closing, and other costs.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

During the quarter ended May 2, 2020, we adopted the new accounting standard on accounting for expected credit losses (ASU 2016-13). We applied the
new principle using a modified retrospective approach. There was no material impact on our financial statements due to adoption of the new standard.

During the quarter ended May 2, 2020, we adopted the new accounting standard on recognizing implementation costs related to a cloud computing
arrangement (ASU 2018-15). We applied the new principle using a prospective approach. There was no material impact on our financial statements due to
adoption of the new standard.

The following table provides a brief description of issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards:

Income Taxes The new standard is designed to simplify the accounting for income | We are evaluating the impact of the new
(ASU 2019-12) taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles as standard on our financial statements.
outlined in U.S. GAAP.

Issued December 2019

Effective Q1 2021
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KOHL’S CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

2. Revenue Recognition

The following table summarizes net sales by line of business:

Quarter Ended

(Dollars in Millions) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019

Women's S 593 |$ 1,224
Men's 363 749
Home 483 572
Children's 269 457
Footwear 233 421
Accessories 219 398
Net sales $ 2,160 |$ 3,821

Unredeemed gift cards and merchandise return card liabilities totaled $301 million as of May 2, 2020, $334 million as of February 1, 2020 and $280 million
as of May 4, 2019. Revenue of $60 million was recognized during Q1 2020 from the February 1, 2020 ending balance.

3. Debt

Long-term debt, which includes draws on the revolving credit facility, consists of the following unsecured and secured senior debt:

Outstanding

Maturity Effective Coupon May 2, February 1, May 4,
(Dollars in Millions) Rate Rate 2020 2020 2019
2023 3.25% 3.25% [$ 350 |$ 350 |$ 350
2023 4.78% 4.75% 184 184 184
2025 9.50% 9.50% 600 — —
2025 4.25% 4.25% 650 650 650
2029 7.36% 7.25% 42 42 42
2033 6.05% 6.00% 113 113 113
2037 6.89% 6.88% 101 101 101
2045 5.57% 5.55% 427 427 427
Outstanding unsecured senior debt 2,467 1,867 1,867
Unamortized debt discounts and deferred financing costs (18) (11) (12)
Unsecured senior debt 2,449 1,856 1,855
Effective interest rate 5.90% 4.74% 4.74%
Secured senior debt 1,000 — —
Total long-term debt $ 3,449 |[$ 1,856  |$ 1,855

Our unsecured senior long-term debt is classified as Level 1, financial instruments with unadjusted, quoted prices listed on active market exchanges. The

estimated fair value of our unsecured senior debt was $2.2 billion at May 2, 2020, $2.0 billion at February 1, 2020 and $1.9 billion at May 4, 2019.

9
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KOHL’S CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

In March 2020, we fully drew down our $1.0 billion senior unsecured revolver. In April 2020, we replaced and upsized the unsecured credit facility with a $1.5
billion senior secured, asset based revolving credit facility maturing in July 2024. The revolver is secured by substantially all of our assets other than real
estate, and contains customary events of default and financial, affirmative, and negative covenants, including but not limited to, a springing financial
covenant related to our fixed charge coverage ratio and restrictions on indebtedness, liens, investments, asset dispositions, and restricted payments,
including a restriction on dividends in 2020 if our outstanding borrowings under the credit facility exceed $1.0 billion. At May 2, 2020, $1.0 billion was
outstanding on the credit facility bearing an effective interest rate of 3.41%. Outstanding borrowings under the credit facility bear interest at a variable rate
based on LIBOR plus the applicable margin. No amounts were outstanding on the credit facility in place as of February 1, 2020 or May 4, 2019.

In April 2020, we issued $600 million of 9.50% notes with semi-annual interest payments beginning in November 2020. The notes include coupon rate step
ups if our long-term debt is downgraded to below a BBB- credit rating by S&P Global Ratings or Baa3 by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. The notes mature
in May 2025. We used part of the net proceeds from this offering to repay $500 million of the borrowings under our senior secured, asset based revolving
credit facility with the remaining net proceeds available for general corporate purposes.

4. Stock-Based Awards

The following table summarizes our stock-based awards activity for the quarter ended May 2, 2020:

Stock Options Nonvested Stock Awards Performance Share Units

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Grant Date Grant Date
(Shares and Units in Thousands) Shares Price Shares Fair Value Units Fair Value
Balance - February 1, 2020 87 I$ 51.78 2,312 |$ 56.24 1,274 [$ 61.55
Granted — — 2,242 20.13 702 20.95
Exercised/vested — — (730) 54.08 (826) 42.72
Forfeited/expired (20) 49.39 (145) 55.30 (25) 73.55
Balance - May 2, 2020 67 [$ 52.49 3,679 [$ 34.69 1,125 [$ 49.75

In 2019, we granted 1,747,441 of stock warrants. The total vested and unvested warrants as of May 2, 2020 were 349,489 and 1,397,952, respectively.

5. Contingencies

We are subject to certain legal proceedings and claims arising out of the conduct of our business. In the opinion of management, the outcome of these
proceedings and litigation will not have a material adverse impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

10




Table of Contents

KOHL’S CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

6. Net (Loss) Income Per Share

Basic Net (loss) income per share is Net (loss) income divided by the average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted Net (loss)
income per share includes incremental shares assumed for share-based awards and stock warrants. Potentially dilutive shares include stock options,
unvested restricted stock units and awards, and warrants outstanding during the period, using the treasury stock method. Potentially dilutive shares are
excluded from the computations of diluted EPS if their effect would be anti-dilutive.

The information required to compute basic and diluted Net (loss) income per share is as follows:

Quarter Ended

(Dollars and Shares in Millions, Except per Share Data) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019
Numerator—Net (loss) income S (541) [$ 62
Denominator—Weighted-average shares:

Basic 154 161

Dilutive impact — 1

Diluted 154 162
Net (loss) income per share:

Basic $ (3.52) [$ 0.38

Diluted $ (3.52) $ 0.38

The following potential shares of common stock were excluded from the diluted Net (loss) income per share calculation because their effect would have
been anti-dilutive:

Quarter Ended
(Shares in Millions) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019
Stock options, awards, units, and warrants 6 —

7. Subsequent Events
As part of our continuing efforts to leverage our existing assets for increased liquidity and value, on May 22, 2020, we closed on a sale leaseback transaction

for our San Bernardino E-commerce fulfillment and distribution centers. The transaction generated $195 million in cash, and we expect to recognize a gain of
approximately $127 million in Q2 2020.

1"
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

For purposes of the following discussion, unless noted, all references to "the quarter” and “the first quarter” are for the three fiscal months (13 weeks) ended
May 2, 2020 and May 4, 2019.

This Form 10-Q contains "forward-looking statements" made within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Words such as
"believes," “anticipates,” “plans,” "may," "intends," "will," "should," “expects” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements may include comments about our future sales or financial performance and our plans, performance, and other objectives,
expectations, or intentions, such as statements regarding our liquidity, debt service requirements, planned capital expenditures, future store initiatives, and
adequacy of capital resources and reserves. Forward-looking statements are based on our management’s then current views and assumptions and, as a
result, are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. Any such forward-looking
statements are qualified by the important risk factors described in Part I, Item 1A of our 2019 Form 10-K or disclosed from time to time in our filings with the
SEC, that could cause actual results to differ materially from those predicted by the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements relate to the
date initially made and we undertake no obligation to update them.

Executive Summary

As of May 2, 2020, we operated 1,159 Kohl's stores, a website (www.Kohls.com), and 12 FILA outlets. Our Kohl's stores and website sell moderately-priced
proprietary and national brand apparel, footwear, accessories, beauty, and home products. Our Kohl's stores generally carry a consistent merchandise
assortment with some differences attributable to local preferences. Our website includes merchandise which is available in our stores, as well as
merchandise that is available only online.
Key financial results for the quarter included:

. Significantly increased financial flexibility during quarter, ending with $2.0 billion in cash

. Swift and aggressive actions taken in response to COVID-19 resulted in positive operating cash flow

. 43.5% decrease in net sales

. 1,950 basis point decrease in gross margin as a percent of net sales

. 16.4% decrease in SG&A

. $3.52 diluted loss per share

. $3.22 diluted loss per share on a non-GAAP basis

Recent Developments

As discussed in our 2019 Form 10-K, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 as a pandemic in March 2020. Subsequently,
COVID-19 has continued to spread throughout the United States. As a result, the President of the United States declared a national emergency. Federal,
state, and local governing bodies mandated various restrictions, including travel restrictions, restrictions on public gatherings, stay at home orders and
advisories, and quarantining of people who may have been exposed to the virus. The response to the COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected the
global economy, disrupted global supply chains, and created significant disruption in the financial and retail markets, including a decrease in consumer
demand for our merchandise.

12
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The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and will likely continue to have, significant adverse effects on our business including, but not limited to the following:

. On March 20, 2020, the Company furloughed 85,000 store and distribution center associates, as well as some corporate office associates, as a
result of temporarily closing all of our stores which limited our business to the digital channel.

. Starting on May 4, 2020, Kohl's began reopening stores in locations where permitted. As of June 5, 2020, we have reopened approximately 80%
of our stores.

. The Company experienced a significant decline in sales demand, and expects to continue to experience volatility in demand for its merchandise.

. Additionally, social distancing measures or changes in consumer spending behaviors due to COVID-19 may continue to impact store traffic after
normal operations are resumed and such actions could result in a loss of sales and profit. As our stores reopen, we have implemented numerous
social distancing and safety measures. These include providing personal protective equipment to our employees, implementing a more rigorous
cleaning process, including enhanced cleaning of high touch surfaces throughout the day, and installing protective barriers at all registers. To
encourage social distancing, we installed social distancing signage and markers throughout the store, closed our fitting rooms, relocated Amazon
returns to a separate area of the store, and are limiting occupancy in stores as appropriate. We have implemented a new process for handling
merchandise returns, reduced store operating hours, and are providing dedicated shopping hours for at-risk individuals.

The chart below details costs that we believe are directly attributable to COVID-19:

|_(Dollars In Millions) Quarter Ended
Description Classification May 2, 2020
Inventory write-downs Cost of merchandise sold 5 187
Net compensation and benefits Selling, general, and administrative 34
Supplies and other costs Selling, general, and administrative 6
Asset write-offs and other Impairments, store closing, and other costs 53
Total $ 280

In response to COVID-19 we have taken the following actions to preserve financial liquidity and flexibility:
. Managed inventory receipts meaningfully lower,
. Significantly reduced expenses across all areas of the business including marketing, technology, operations, and payroll,
. Decreased planned capital expenditures by approximately $500 million,
. Suspended share repurchase program,
. Suspended regular quarterly cash dividend beginning in the second quarter of 2020,

. Replaced and upsized the unsecured $1.0 billion revolver with a $1.5 billion secured facility, of which $1.0 billion was drawn as of quarter-end,
and

. Issued $600 million of 9.5% notes due 2025.

We cannot estimate with certainty the length or severity of this pandemic, or the extent to which the disruption may materially impact our Consolidated
Financial Statements. However, we do expect the impact to continue to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations for the full year 2020.

See "Results of Operations" and "Liquidity and Capital Resources" for additional details about our financial results.
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Results of Operations

Total Revenue

Quarter Ended
(Dollars in Millions) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019 Change
Net sales $ 2,160 [$ 3,821 $ (1,661)
Other revenue 268 266 2
Total revenue $ 2,428 [$ 4,087 [$ (1,659)

Net sales declined 43.5% for the first quarter of 2020 compared to the first quarter of 2019.

. The decrease in net sales reflects the temporary nationwide closure of our stores on March 20, 2020 due to COVID-19 which resulted in a
decrease in transactions.

. Digital sales increased 24% for the first quarter of 2020. Digital penetration represented 45% of net sales for the first quarter of 2020 and 21% of
net sales for the first quarter of 2019.

. All lines of business reported increases in digital sales for the first quarter of 2020 with Home and Children’s outperforming the Company average.
. Active continues to be a key strategic initiative and outperformed the rest of the Company.

Comparable sales is a measure that highlights the performance of our stores and digital channel by measuring the change in sales for a period over the
comparable, prior-year period of equivalent length. Comparable sales includes all store and digital sales, except sales from stores open less than 12 months,
stores that have been closed, and stores where square footage has changed by more than 10%. We measure the change in digital sales by including all
sales initiated online or through mobile applications, including omnichannel transactions which are fulfilled through our stores.

As our stores were closed for over six weeks during the first quarter of 2020, we have not included a discussion of comparable sales as we do not believe it
is a meaningful metric over this period of time.

We measure digital penetration as digital sales over net sales. These amounts do not take into consideration fulfilment node, digital returns processed in
stores, and coupon behaviors.

Comparable sales and digital penetration measures vary across the retail industry. As a result, our comparable sales calculation and digital penetration are
non-GAAP measures that may not be consistent with the similarly titted measures reported by other companies.

The increase in Other revenue of $2 million for the first quarter of 2020 was driven by higher credit revenue.

Cost of Merchandise Sold and Gross Margin

Quarter Ended
|_(Dollars in Millions) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019 Change
Net sales $ 2,160 5 3821 [$ (1,661)
Cost of merchandise sold 1,787 2,415 (628)
Gross margin S 373 S 1,406 [$ (1,033)
Gross margin as a percent of net sales 17.3% 36.8% (1,950) bps

Cost of merchandise sold includes the total cost of products sold, including product development costs, net of vendor payments other than reimbursement of
specific, incremental and identifiable costs; inventory shrink; markdowns; freight expenses associated with moving merchandise from our vendors to our
distribution centers; shipping expenses for digital sales; and terms cash discount. Our Cost of merchandise sold may not be comparable
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with that of other retailers because we include distribution center and buying costs in Selling, general, and administrative expenses while other retailers may
include these expenses in Cost of merchandise sold.

There were three primary drivers to the decrease in gross margin as a percent of net sales. First, approximately 1,500 bps of the decrease was due to
inventory actions including continuing permanent markdown activity early in the first quarter of 2020 followed by an absence of sales in the last half of the
quarter, and establishing a reserve for excess seasonal inventory; second, higher shipping costs of approximately 250 bps due to increased digital sales
penetration; and third, approximately 200 bps due to mix of business and increased promotional activity.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses ("SG&A")

Quarter Ended
(Dollars in Millions) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019 Change
SG&A $ 1,066 [$ 1,275 |$ (209)
As a percent of total revenue 43.9% 31.2% 1,271 bps

SG&A expenses include compensation and benefit costs (including stores, headquarters, buying, and distribution centers); occupancy and operating costs of
our retail, distribution and corporate facilities; freight expenses associated with moving merchandise from our distribution centers to our retail stores and
among distribution and retail facilities; marketing expenses, offset by vendor payments for reimbursement of specific, incremental and identifiable costs;
expenses related to our credit card operations; and other administrative revenues and expenses. We do not include depreciation and amortization in SG&A.
The classification of these expenses varies across the retail industry.

Many of our expenses, including store payroll and distribution costs, are variable in nature. These costs generally increase as sales increase and decrease
as sales decrease. We measure both the change in these variable expenses and the expense as a percent of sales. If the expense as a percent of sales
decreased from the prior year, the expense "leveraged". If the expense as a percent of sales increased over the prior year, the expense "deleveraged".

The following table summarizes the decreases in SG&A by expense type:

Quarter Ended
(Dollars In Millions) May 2, 2020
Credit expenses 5 (21)
Marketing (51)
Corporate and other (60)
Store expenses (77)
Total decrease S (209)

SG&A expenses decreased $209 million, or 16.4%, to $1.1 billion. As a percentage of revenue, SG&A deleveraged by 1,271 bps. The decrease in SG&A
was primarily driven by a reduction in store expenses due to temporary store closures nationwide, lower marketing expense due to reductions in all working
media channels, and lower credit expenses due to lower interchange fees and payroll. Partially offsetting the decrease in SG&A expenses were expenses
related to the COVID-19 pandemic which primarily consisted of incremental employee costs such as emergency pay, incentives and benefits, and cleaning
and protective supplies. Included in these expenses was the retention credit benefit we were eligible for under The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic
Security Act (“CARES Act”). The CARES Act, enacted on March 27, 2020, provides eligible employers with an employee retention credit equal to 50% of
qualified wages paid to employees who were not providing services to the Company due to the impact of COVID-19.
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Other Expenses
Quarter Ended
(Dollars in Millions) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019 Change
Depreciation and amortization $ 227 ($ 230 ($ (3)
Impairments, store closing, and other costs 66 49 17
Interest expense, net 58 52 6

Depreciation and amortization decreased $3 million in the first quarter of 2020 and was driven by capital reductions, as well as the maturity of our store
portfolio.

In the first quarter of 2020, we incurred $66 million of Impairments, store closing, and other costs. We incurred $51 million in asset write-offs and $2 million in
other costs related to capital reductions and strategy changes due to COVID-19 and $13 million in brand exit costs. In the first quarter of 2019, we incurred
$49 million in lease impairment charges related to the closure of four stores.

Net interest expense increased in the first quarter as a result of higher interest expense due to the outstanding balance on the revolving credit facility.

Income Taxes

Quarter Ended
(Dollars in Millions) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019 Change
(Benefit) provision for income taxes $ (235) ($ 4 % (239)
Effective tax rate 30.3% 6.3%

The first quarter resulted in a benefit for income taxes driven by a net loss due to lower sales that resulted from the temporary closure of our stores. The
increase to our effective tax rate was primarily due to the benefit from the net loss carryback which offset income from taxable years where the federal
statutory tax rate was 35% versus the current federal statutory tax rate of 21%. In addition, the Company recognized favorable items that lowered the 2019
effective tax rate that did not repeat in 2020.

(Loss) Income Before Income Taxes, Net (Loss) Income, and (Loss) Earnings Per Diluted Share

Quarter Ended
May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019

Loss Loss Income Earnings

before Net Per Diluted before Net Per Diluted
(Dollars in Millions, Except per Share Data) Income Taxes Loss Share Income Taxes Income Share
GAAP $ (776) |$ (541) |$ (3.52) ($ 66 |$ 62 [$ 0.38
Impairments, store closing, and other costs 66 46 0.30 49 36 0.23
Adjusted (non-GAAP) 5 (710) [ (495)]$ (3.22)$ 115 [$ 98 I$ 0.61

We believe the adjusted results in the table above are useful because they provide enhanced visibility into our results for the periods excluding the impact of
certain items such as those included in the table above. However, these non-GAAP financial measures are not intended to replace the comparable GAAP
measures.

Seasonality and Inflation

Our business, like that of most retailers, is subject to seasonal influences, with the majority of sales and income typically realized during the second half of
each fiscal year, which includes the back-to-school and holiday seasons. Approximately 15% of annual sales typically occur during the back-to-school
season and 30% during the holiday season. Because of the seasonality of our business, results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the
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results that may be achieved for a full fiscal year. Due to the impact of COVID-19, typical sales patterns may not occur this year.

In addition to COVID-19, we expect that our operations will continue to be influenced by general economic conditions, including food, fuel and energy prices,
higher unemployment, and costs to source our merchandise, including tariffs. There can be no assurances that such factors will not impact our business in
the future.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Financial liquidity and flexibility are a key focus of our response to COVID-19. As previously mentioned, we took various actions during the quarter to
preserve our financial liquidity and flexibility.

The following table presents our primary uses and sources of cash:

Cash Uses Cash Sources
-Operational needs, including salaries, rent, taxes, and other costs -Cash flow from operations

of running our business -Short-term trade credit, in the form of extended
-Capital expenditures payment terms
-Inventory -Line of credit under our revolving credit facility
-Share repurchases -Issuance of debt

-Dividend payments
-Debt reduction

Our working capital and inventory levels typically build throughout the fall, peaking during the November and December holiday selling season.

Quarter Ended
(Dollars in Millions) May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019 Change
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 53 $ 136 [$ (83)
Investing activities (162) (238) 76
Financing activities 1,425 (289) 1,714

Operating Activities

Operating activities generated $53 million of cash in the first quarter of 2020 compared to $136 million in the first quarter of 2019. The decrease was
primarily due to decreased sales resulting from temporary nationwide store closures due to COVID-19 offset by extending payment terms with our vendors.

Investing Activities

Investing activities used cash of $162 million in the first quarter of 2020 and $238 million in the first quarter of 2019. The decrease was primarily due to
reductions in capital expenditures as a part of our response to COVID-19.

Financing Activities

Financing activities generated cash of $1.4 billion in the first quarter of 2020 compared to $289 million cash used for financing activities in the first quarter of
2019.

In March 2020, we fully drew down our $1.0 billion senior unsecured revolver. In April 2020, we replaced and upsized the unsecured credit facility with a $1.5

billion senior secured, asset based revolving credit facility maturing in July 2024. At May 2, 2020, $1.0 billion was outstanding on the credit facility bearing an
effective interest rate of 3.41%.
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In April 2020, we issued $600 million of 9.50% notes with semi-annual interest payments beginning in November 2020. The notes mature in May 2025. We
used part of the net proceeds from this offering to repay $500 million of the borrowings under our senior secured, asset based revolving credit facility with the
remainder for general corporate purposes.

As a result of the suspension of our share repurchase program in response to COVID-19, treasury stock purchases in the first quarter of 2020 were $8
million compared to $121 million in the first quarter of 2019. Share repurchases are discretionary in nature. The timing and amount of repurchases are based
upon available cash balances, our stock price, and other factors.

Cash dividend payments were $108 million ($0.704 per share) in the first quarter of 2020 and $108 million ($0.67 per share) in the first quarter of 2019. In
response to COVID-19, the dividend program has been suspended beginning in the second quarter of 2020. The Company remains committed to paying a
dividend over the long-term following stabilization from COVID-19.

During the first quarter of 2020, both Standard and Poor’s and Fitch downgraded our long-term debt from BBB to BBB-. As of May 2, 2020, our credit ratings
were as follows:

Standard &
Moody’s Poor’s Fitch
Long-term debt Baa2 BBB- BBB-
Key Financial Ratios
Key financial ratios that provide certain measures of our liquidity are as follows:
(Dollars in Millions) | May 2, 2020 May 4, 2019
Working capital 5 2,883 |$ 1,843
Current ratio 1.88 1.66

The increase in our working capital and current ratio are primarily due to higher cash balances as a result of debt issuances.
Debt Covenant Compliance

Our senior secured, asset based revolving credit facility contains customary events of default and financial, affirmative and negative covenants, including but
not limited to, a springing financial covenant relating to our fixed charge coverage ratio and restrictions on indebtedness, liens, investments, asset
dispositions, and restricted payments, including a restriction on dividends in 2020 if our outstanding borrowings under the credit facility exceed $1.0 billion.
These covenants vary from the calculation presented in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. As of May 2, 2020, we were in compliance with all covenants and
expect to remain in compliance during the remainder of fiscal 2020.

Contractual Obligations

During the quarter, we issued $600 million in aggregate principal amount of 9.50% notes due 2025. We also replaced our outstanding unsecured credit
facility, of which $1 billion was outstanding at the end of the quarter. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources" for additional details about these financing
activities. See Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details about outstanding debt. There have been no other significant changes
in the contractual obligations disclosed in our 2019 Form 10-K.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have not provided any financial guarantees as of May 2, 2020.

We have not created and are not a party to, any special-purpose or off-balance sheet entities for the purpose of raising capital, incurring debt, or operating
our business. We do not have any arrangements or relationships with
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entities that are not consolidated into our financial statements that are reasonably likely to materially affect our financial condition, liquidity, results of
operations, or capital resources.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts.
Management has discussed the development, selection, and disclosure of its estimates and assumptions with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.
Other than the items discussed in Footnote 1, there have been no significant changes in the critical accounting policies and estimates discussed in our 2019
Form 10-K.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our operating results are subject to interest rate risk as our secured revolving credit facility carries variable interest rates, and the $600 million of notes
issued in April 2020 include coupon rate step ups if our long-term debt is downgraded to below a BBB- credit rating by S&P Global Ratings or Baa3 by
Moody'’s Investors Service, Inc. There have been no other significant changes in the Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk described in
our 2019 Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we carried out an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (the “Evaluation”) at a reasonable assurance level as of
the last day of the period covered by this report.

Based upon the Evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective
at the reasonable assurance level. Disclosure controls and procedures are defined by Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
"Exchange Act") as controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

It should be noted that the design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events and there can be
no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving our stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended May 2, 2020 that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no significant changes in the Risk Factors described in our 2019 Form 10-K, other than what is noted below.

The impact of COVID-19 has had a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The impact of and actions taken in response to COVID-19 have had a significant impact on the retail industry generally and our business specifically, starting
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2020. At present, we cannot estimate the full impact of COVID-19, but we expect it to continue to have a material adverse
impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Risks Relating to Revenues

On March 20, 2020, we temporarily closed our stores nationwide. Our stores have remained closed until recently, as we began to reopen stores in a phased
approach, if and as permitted pursuant to applicable law. In connection with the store closures, we temporarily furloughed store and store distribution center
associates, as well as some corporate office associates whose work was significantly reduced by the store closures. Due to the store closures, we have
experienced a material decline in revenue and significant pressure on our cash flow. We cannot predict if further outbreaks would necessitate store closures
again.

Our response to COVID-19 may also impact our customer loyalty. If our customer loyalty is negatively impacted or consumer discretionary spending habits
change, including in connection with rising levels of unemployment, our market share and revenue may suffer as a result. To the extent the pandemic
significantly impacts spending or payment patterns of our private label credit card holders, we may receive lower fees from our private label credit card
program.

Risks Relating to Operations

Because we temporarily closed all of our stores, we took steps to reduce operating costs and improve efficiency, including furloughing a substantial number
of our personnel. These steps may have an impact on our ability to attract and retain associates in the future. If we are unable to attract and retain
associates in the future, such as those associates who find other employment during the furlough period, we may experience operational challenges as we
re-open our stores. These risks related to our business, financial condition, and results of operations, are especially heightened given the uncertainty as to
the extent and duration of COVID-19’s impact. We may also face demands or requests from our associates for additional compensation, healthcare benefits
or other terms as a result of COVID-19 that could increase costs, and we could experience labor disputes or disruptions as we continue to implement our
COVID-19 mitigation plans. We cannot predict if further outbreaks would necessitate additional store closures again.

Our management team is focused on mitigating the impact of COVID-19, which has required and will continue to require a large investment of time and
focus. We reallocated certain of our resources, including decreasing planned capital expenditures by approximately $500 million and significantly reducing
expenses across the business including expenses related to marketing, technology, and operations. This focus on mitigating the impact of COVID-19 could
result in the delay of new initiatives, including brand launches. It has also required us to take measures to make modifications to our stores and their
operation to help protect the health and well-being of our customers, associates and others as they are re-opened. To the extent these measures are
ineffective or perceived as ineffective, it may harm our reputation and customer loyalty and make our customers less likely to shop in our stores.
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Most of our corporate office associates continue to work remotely, as our offices are opening pursuant to a phased approach. As a result, we face certain
operational risks, including heightened cybersecurity risks that may continue past the time when our associates return to work. We cannot predict if further
outbreaks would necessitate corporate office closures again.

In addition, we cannot predict the impact that COVID-19 will have on our suppliers, vendors, and other business partners, and each of their financial
conditions; however, any material effect on these parties could adversely impact us.

Risks Relating to Liquidity

In light of the impact of COVID-19 on our business, we have taken several actions to increase our cash position and preserve financial flexibility, including
borrowing $1.0 billion under our senior secured, asset based revolving credit facility and issuing $600 million in aggregate principal amount of 9.50% notes
due in 2025, and accordingly, our long-term debt has increased substantially since February 1, 2020. This increase in our level of debt may adversely impact
our financial and operating activities or ability to incur additional debt. In addition, as a result of the risks described above, we may be required to raise
additional capital, and our access to and cost of financing will depend on, among other things, global economic conditions, conditions in the global financing
markets, the availability of sufficient amounts of financing, our prospects, our credit ratings, and the outlook for the retail industry as a whole. As a result of
COVID-19, some credit agencies have downgraded our credit ratings. If our credit ratings were to be further downgraded, or general market conditions were
to ascribe higher risk to our credit rating levels, our industry, or our Company, our access to capital and the cost of debt financing will be further negatively
impacted. Accordingly, a downgrade may cause our cost of borrowing to further increase. Further, COVID-19 has led to a disruption and volatility in the
capital markets generally, which has also increased the cost of accessing financing. Our access to additional financing and its cost continues to depend on a
number of factors, including economic conditions, financing markets and the outlook for our business and the retail industry as a whole.

In addition, the terms of future debt agreements could include more restrictive covenants, or require incremental collateral, which may further restrict our
business operations or cause future financing to be unavailable due to our covenant restrictions then in effect. Also, if we are unable to comply with the
covenants under our senior secured, asset based revolving credit facility, the lenders under that agreement will have the right to terminate their commitments
thereunder and declare the outstanding loans thereunder to be immediately due and payable. A default under our senior secured, asset based revolving
credit facility could trigger a cross-default, acceleration or other consequences under other indebtedness or financial instruments to which we are a party.
There is no guarantee that debt financings will be available in the future to fund our obligations, or will be available on terms consistent with our expectations.
Additionally, the impact of COVID-19 on the financial markets is expected to adversely impact our ability to raise funds through additional financings.

COVID-19 could also cause or aggravate other risk factors that we identify in our 2019 Form 10-K, which in turn could materially and adversely impact our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, COVID-19 may also affect our business, financial condition and results of operations in a
manner that is not presently known to us or that we currently do not consider to present significant risks to our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table contains information for shares of common stock repurchased and shares acquired from employees in lieu of amounts required to satisfy
minimum tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of the employees’ stock-based compensation during the three fiscal months ended May 2, 2020:

February 2 - 29, 2020 23,356 [$ 43.04 - 734
March 1 - April 4, 2020 847,950 29.79 286,208 726
April 5 - May 2, 2020 32,369 37.86 - 726
Total 903,675 |$ 30.43 286,208 |$ 726
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Description
3.1 Text of Amendments to the Company’s Amended and Restated Bylaws. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the
’ Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 15. 2020.
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Kohl’s Corporation, as amended through April 15, 2020 (complete version).
Credit Agreement, dated as of April 16, 2020, by and among the Company and its subsidiaries, and Wells Fargo Bank,
4.1 National Association, as agent, and the other lenders party thereto, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 16, 2020.
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
321 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
32.2
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibits 101)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Kohl's Corporation
(Registrant)

Date: June 5, 2020 /s/ Jill Timm
Jill Timm
On behalf of the Registrant and as Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 3.2
BYLAWS
OF
KOHL’S CORPORATION
(Amended and Restated as of April 15, 2020)

ARTICLE 1
OFFICES; RECORDS

Registered Office. The corporation shall maintain a registered office and registered agent in the State of Wisconsin. The address of the registered

office may be changed from time to time by any officer or by the registered agent. The registered agent of the corporation may be changed from time to time by any officer.

1.02.

Other Offices. The corporation may also have offices at such other places both within or outside the state of Wisconsin as the Board of Directors

may from time to time determine or the business of the corporation may require.

1.03

Corporate Records. The following documents and records shall be kept at the corporation’s principal office or at such other reasonable location

as may be specified by the corporation:

(a)
(b)
©
(d)
(e)
®
(&
(h)
@
)

2.01

Minutes of shareholders’ and Board of Directors’ meetings and any written notices thereof.
Records of actions taken by the shareholders or directors without a meeting.

Records of actions taken by committees of the Board of Directors.

Accounting records.

Records of its shareholders.

Current Bylaws.

Written waivers of notice by shareholders or directors (if any).

Written consents by shareholders or directors for actions without a meeting (if any).

Voting trust agreements (if any).

Stock transfer agreements to which the corporation is a party or of which it has notice (if any).

ARTICLE II
SHAREHOLDERS

Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the shareholders shall be held on such date and at such time as may be fixed by or under the authority of

the Board of Directors, for the purpose of electing directors and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting. If the election of directors is not
held on the day fixed as herein provided for any annual meeting of the shareholders, or at any adjournment thereof, the Board of Directors shall cause the election to be held
at a meeting of the shareholders as soon thereafter as may be convenient.

At an annual meeting of the shareholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall have been properly brought before the meeting. To be properly
brought before an annual meeting, business must be (a) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors;
(b) otherwise brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors; or (c) brought before the meeting by a shareholder pursuant to this Section 2.01.
Any business brought by a shareholder must be a proper subject for action by shareholders under Wisconsin law.



Only persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.01 shall be eligible for election as directors, except as may
otherwise be provided by the terms of the corporation’s Articles of Incorporation with respect to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors.
Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors of the corporation may be made at a meeting of shareholders by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or
by any shareholder of the corporation entitled to vote for the election of directors at the meeting who complies with the procedures set forth in this bylaw.

For business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a shareholder, and for nominations by shareholders for the election of directors, the
shareholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the corporation. All notices given pursuant to this Section shall be in writing and must be
received by the Secretary of the corporation not later than 120 days prior to the anniversary date of the annual meeting of shareholders in the immediately preceding year;
provided, however, that if during the prior year the corporation did not hold an annual meeting or if the date of the annual meeting has changed more than 30 days from the
prior year, then notice must be received by the later of (i) the date 90 days prior to the date of the annual meeting for which such proposal or nomination is made and (ii) the
date 10 Business Days after the first public announcement of the date of the annual meeting for which such proposal or nomination is made. All such notices shall include
(i) a representation that the person sending the notice is a shareholder of record and will remain such through the Meeting Record Date (defined in Section 2.05); (ii) the
name and address, as they appear on the corporation’s books, of such shareholder and the beneficial owner or owners, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made; (iii) (A)
the class and number of the corporation’s shares which are owned beneficially and of record by such shareholder and any such beneficial owner or owners, (B) any option,
warrant, convertible security, stock appreciation right, or similar right with an exercise or conversion privilege or a settlement payment or mechanism at a price related to
any class or series of shares of the corporation or with a value derived in whole or in part from the value of any class or series of shares of the corporation, whether or not
such instrument or right is subject to settlement in the underlying class or series of capital stock of the corporation or otherwise (a “Derivative Instrument”) directly or
indirectly owned beneficially by such shareholder and any other direct or indirect opportunity to profit or share in any profit derived from any increase or decrease in the
value of shares of the corporation, (C) any proxy, contract, arrangement, understanding, or relationship pursuant to which such shareholder has a right to vote any shares of
any security of the corporation, (D) the extent to which the shareholder providing the notice, or any Associated Shareholder (as defined below), has entered into any
transaction or series of transactions, including hedging, short selling, borrowing shares, or lending shares, with the effect or intent to mitigate loss or manage the risks of
changes in share price or to profit or share in profit from any decrease in share price, or to increase or decrease the voting power of such shareholder or any Associated
Shareholders with respect to any shares of capital stock of the corporation, (E) any rights to dividends on the shares of the corporation owned beneficially by such
shareholder that are separated or separable from the underlying shares of the corporation, (F) any proportionate interest in shares of the corporation or Derivative
Instruments held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited partnership in which such shareholder is a general partner or, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns an
interest in a general partner, and (G) any performance-related fees (other than an asset-based fee) that such shareholder is entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the
value of shares of the corporation or Derivative Instruments, if any, as of the date of such notice, including without limitation any such interests held by members of such
shareholder’s immediate family sharing the same household (which information shall be supplemented by such shareholder and beneficial owner, if any, not later than ten
days after the record date for the meeting to disclose such ownership as of the record date); (iv) any other information relating to such shareholder and beneficial owner, if
any, that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the
proposal and/or for the election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder; and (v)
a representation that such shareholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at such meeting to make the nomination or move the consideration of other business set forth
in the notice. Notice as to proposals with respect to any business to be brought before the meeting other than election of directors shall also set forth the text of the proposal
and may set forth any statement in support thereof that the shareholder wishes to bring to the attention of the corporation, and shall specify any material interest of such
shareholder in such business. The person providing the notice shall also be required to provide such further information as may be requested by the corporation to comply
with federal securities laws, rules and regulations. Notice as to nominations shall set forth the name(s) of the nominee(s), address and principal occupation or employment of
each, a description of all arrangements or understandings between the sharcholder and each nominee and any person or persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to
which the nomination or nominations are to



be made by the shareholder, the written consent of each nominee to serve as a director if so elected and such other information as would be required to be included in a
proxy statement soliciting proxies for the election of the nominee(s) of such shareholder.

The chairman of the meeting shall refuse to acknowledge the nomination of any person or the consideration of any business not made in compliance with the
foregoing procedures.

For purposes of these Bylaws, “public announcement” shall mean disclosure in a document publicly filed by the corporation with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or in a press release reported by the Dow Jones
News Service, Reuters Economic Services, Associated Press or comparable national news service. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.01, a
shareholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder with respect to the matters set
forth in this Section 2.01. Nothing in this Section 2.01 shall be deemed to expand or limit the corporation’s obligations under Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act. For
purposes of this Section 2.01, “Associated Shareholder” of any shareholder means any person controlling, directly or indirectly, or acting in concert with, such shareholder;
any beneficial owner of shares of stock of the corporation owned of record or beneficially by such shareholder; and any person controlling, controlled by, or under common
control with such shareholder.

2.02 Special Meetings.

(a) A special meeting of shareholders (a “Special Meeting””) may be called only by the Board of Directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Boarc
Directors and shall be called by the Board of Directors upon the demand, in accordance with this Section 2.02, of the holders of record of shares representing at least 10% of
all the votes entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at the Special Meeting.

(b) In order that the corporation may determine the shareholders entitled to demand a Special Meeting, the Board of Directors may fix a record date to
determine the shareholders entitled to make such a demand (the “Demand Record Date”). The Demand Record Date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution
fixing the Demand Record Date is adopted by the Board of Directors and shall not be more than 10 days after the date upon which the resolution fixing the Demand Record
Date is adopted by the Board of Directors. Any shareholder of record seeking to have shareholders demand a Special Meeting shall, by sending written notice to the
Secretary of the corporation by hand or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, request the Board of Directors to fix a Demand Record Date. The Board of
Directors shall promptly, but in all events within 30 days after the date on which a valid request to fix a Demand Record Date is received, adopt a resolution fixing the
Demand Record Date and shall make a public announcement of such Demand Record Date. If no Demand Record Date has been fixed by the Board of Directors within 30
days after the date on which such request is received by the Secretary, the Demand Record Date shall be the 30th day after the first day on which a valid written request to
set a Demand Record Date is received by the Secretary. To be valid, such written request shall set forth the purpose or purposes for which the Special Meeting is to be held,
shall be signed by one or more shareholders of record (or their duly authorized proxies or other representatives), shall bear the date of signature of each such shareholder (or
proxy or other representative) and shall set forth all information about each such shareholder and about the beneficial owner or owners, if any, on whose behalf the request
is made that would be required to be set forth in a shareholder’s notice described in Section 2.01. Any business proposed to be brought before the meeting must be a subject
for which a special meeting must be called under Wisconsin law upon the demand of the holders of at least 10% of the votes entitled to be cast.

(c) In order for a shareholder or shareholders to demand a Special Meeting, a written demand or demands for a Special Meeting by the holders of
record as of the Demand Record Date of shares representing at least 10% of all the votes entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at the Special Meeting
must be delivered to the corporation. To be valid, each written demand by a shareholder for a Special Meeting shall set forth the specific purpose or purposes for which the
Special Meeting is to be held (which purpose or purposes shall be limited to the purpose or purposes set forth in the written request to set a Demand Record Date received
by the corporation pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section 2.02), shall be signed by one or more persons who as of the Demand Record Date are shareholders of record (or
their duly authorized proxies or other representatives), shall bear the date of signature of each such shareholder (or proxy or other representative), shall set forth the name
and address, as they appear in the corporation’s books, of each shareholder signing such demand and the class or series



and number of shares of the corporation which are owned of record and beneficially by each such shareholder, shall be sent to the Secretary by hand or by certified or
registered mail, return receipt requested.

(d) The corporation shall not be required to call a Special Meeting upon shareholder demand unless, in addition to the documents required by
paragraph (c) of this Section 2.02, the Secretary receives a written agreement signed by each Soliciting Shareholder (as defined herein), pursuant to which each Soliciting
Shareholder, jointly and severally, agrees to pay the corporation’s costs of holding the Special Meeting, including the costs of preparing and mailing proxy materials for the
corporation’s own solicitation, provided that if each of the resolutions introduced by any Soliciting Shareholder at such meeting is adopted, and each of the individuals
nominated by or on behalf of any Soliciting Shareholder for election as director at such meeting is elected, then the Soliciting Shareholders shall not be required to pay such
costs. For purposes of this paragraph (d), the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

(1) “Affiliate” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 12b-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

(i1) “Participant” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Item 4 of Schedule 14A promulgated under the Exchange Act.

(iii) “Person” shall mean any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, trust, unincorporated organization or
other entity.

(iv) “Proxy” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 14a-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

W) “Solicitation” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 14a-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

(vi) “Soliciting Shareholder” shall mean, with respect to any Special Meeting demanded by a shareholder or shareholders, any of the

following Persons:

(A) if the number of shareholders signing the demand or demands for a meeting delivered to the corporation pursuant to
paragraph (c) of this Section 2.02 is 10 or fewer, each shareholder signing any such demand;

B) if the number of shareholders signing the demand or demands for a meeting delivered to the corporation pursuant to
paragraph (c) of this Section 2.02 is more than 10, each Person who is or intends to be a Participant in a Solicitation in connection with the
Special Meeting (other than a Solicitation of Proxies on behalf of the corporation); or

©) any Affiliate of a Soliciting Shareholder, if a majority of the directors then in office determine, in good faith, that such
Affiliate should be required to sign the written notice described in paragraph (c) of this Section 2.02 and/or the written agreement described in this
paragraph (d) in order to prevent the purposes of this Section 2.02 from being evaded.

(e) Except as provided in the following sentence, any Special Meeting shall be held at such hour and day as may be designated by the Board of
Directors. In the case of any Special Meeting called by the Board of Directors upon the demand of shareholders (a “Demand Special Meeting”), the date of the Demand
Special Meeting shall be not more than 70 days after the Meeting Record Date (as defined in Section 2.05 of these Bylaws); provided that in the event that the directors then
in office fail to designate an hour and date for a Demand Special Meeting within 30 days after the date that valid written demands for such meeting by the holders of record
as of the Demand Record Date of shares representing at least 10% of all the votes entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at the Special Meeting, as well
as the agreement described in paragraph (d), are delivered to the corporation (the “Delivery Date”), then such meeting shall be held at 2:00 p.m. (local time) on the 100th
day after the Delivery Date or, if such 100th day is not a Business Day (as defined below), on the first preceding Business Day. In fixing a meeting date for any Special
Meeting, the Board of Directors may consider such factors as it deems



relevant within the good faith exercise of its business judgment, including, without limitation, the nature of the action proposed to be taken, the facts and circumstances
surrounding any demand for such meeting, and any plan of the Board of Directors to call an Annual Meeting or a Special Meeting.

® The corporation may engage independent inspectors of elections to act as an agent of the corporation for the purpose of promptly performing a
ministerial review of the validity of any purported written demand or demands for a Special Meeting received by the Secretary. For the purpose of permitting the inspectors
to perform such review, no purported demand shall be deemed to have been delivered to the corporation until the earlier of (i) 5 Business Days following receipt by the
Secretary of such purported demand and (ii) such date as the independent inspectors certify to the corporation that the valid demands received by the Secretary represent at
least 10% of all the votes entitled to be cast on each issue proposed to be considered at the Special Meeting. Nothing contained in this paragraph shall in any way be
construed to limit the ability of the Board of Directors or any shareholder to contest the validity of any demand, whether during or after such 5 Business Day period, or to
take any other action (including, without limitation, the commencement, prosecution or defense of any litigation with respect thereto).

() Only business within the purpose described in the meeting notice given in accordance with Section 2.04 of these Bylaws may be conducted at a
Special Meeting.
(h) Only such business shall be conducted at a Special Meeting as shall have been brought before such meeting in accordance with the procedures set

forth in this Section 2.02. If the chairman of the meeting shall determine that any business proposed to be brought before the Special Meeting was not properly brought in
accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.02, then the chairman shall so declare to the meeting and such business shall not be considered.

) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.02, a shareholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange
Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder with respect to the matters set forth in this Section 2.02. Nothing in this Section 2.02 shall be deemed to expand or
limit the corporation’s obligations under Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act.

(@) For purposes of these Bylaws, “Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking institutions in the
State of Wisconsin are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close.

2.03. Place of Meeting. The Board of Directors may designate any place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, and may, in their sole
discretion, determine that a virtual meeting of shareholders by means of remote communication shall be held instead of a physical meeting of the shareholders, as the place
of meeting for any annual meeting or any special meeting. If no designation is made, the place of meeting shall be the principal office of the corporation. Any meeting may
be adjourned to reconvene at any place, including by remote communication, as designated by vote of the Board of Directors or by the Chairman of the Board.

2.04. Notices to Shareholders.

(a) Required Notice. The corporation shall provide written notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in case of a Special Meeting, the
purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, not less than ten (10) days nor more than seventy (70) days before the date of the meeting (unless a different time is
provided by law or the Articles of Incorporation), to each shareholder entitled to vote at such meeting or, if the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law requires that notice be
given to shareholders not entitled to vote, to all shareholders of record. For purposes of this Section 2.04, notice by “electronic transmission” (as defined in the Wisconsin
Business Corporation Law) is written notice. Written notice is effective (1) when mailed, if mailed postpaid and addressed to the shareholder’s address shown in the
corporation’s current record of shareholders; or (2) when electronically transmitted to the shareholder in a manner authorized by the shareholder. At least twenty (20) days’
notice shall be provided if the purpose, or one of the purposes, of the meeting is to consider a plan of merger or share exchange for which shareholder approval is required
by law, or the sale, lease, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the corporation’s property, with or without goodwill, otherwise than in the usual and
regular course of business.



(b) Adjourned Meeting. Except as provided in the next sentence, if any shareholder meeting is adjourned to a different date, time, or place, notice need
not be given of the new date, time, and place, if the new date, time, and place is announced at the meeting before adjournment. If a new record date for the adjourned
meeting is or must be fixed, then notice must be given pursuant to the requirements of paragraph (a) of this Section 2.04, to those persons who are shareholders as of the
new record date.

(c) Waiver of Notice. A shareholder may waive notice in accordance with Article VI of these Bylaws.

(d) Contents of Notice. The notice of each Special Meeting shall include a description of the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called.
Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, in the Articles of Incorporation, or in the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, the notice of an annual shareholder meeting
need not include a description of the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called.

2.05 Fixing of Record Date.

(a) Meetings. The Board of Directors may fix in advance a date as the record date for any determination of shareholders entitled to notice of, and to
vote at, a shareholders’ meeting, such date in any case to be not more than seventy (70) days prior to the meeting (the “Meeting Record Date”). In the case of any Demand
Special Meeting, (i) the Meeting Record Date shall be not later than the 30th day after the Delivery Date and (ii) if the Board of Directors fails to fix the Meeting Record
Date within 30 days after the Delivery Date, then the close of business on such 30th day shall be the Meeting Record Date. When a determination of shareholders entitled to
vote at any meeting of shareholders has been made as provided in these Bylaws, such determination shall be applied to any adjournment thereof unless the Board of
Directors fixes a new record date and except as otherwise required by law. A new record date must be set if a meeting is adjourned to a date more than 120 days after the
date fixed for the original meeting.

(b) Distributions. The Board may also fix in advance a date as the record date for determining shareholders entitled to receive a dividend or
distribution. If no record date is fixed for the determination of shareholders entitled to receive a share dividend or distribution (other than a distribution involving a purchase,
redemption or other acquisition of the corporation’s shares), the close of business on the day on which the resolution of the Board of Directors is adopted declaring the
dividend or distribution shall be the record date.

2.06. Shareholder List. The officer or agent having charge of the stock transfer books for shares of the corporation shall, before each meeting of
shareholders, make a complete record of the shareholders entitled to notice of such meeting, arranged by class or series of shares and showing the address of and the number
of shares held by each shareholder. The list shall be open to the examination of any shareholder beginning two business days after notice of the meeting is given, and
continuing to the date of the meeting: (a) on a reasonably accessible electronic network, (b) during ordinary business hours, at the principal place of business of the
corporation, or (c) at a place identified in the meeting notice in the city where the meeting will be held. In the event the corporation determines to make the list available on
an electronic network, the corporation may take reasonable steps to ensure that such information is available only to shareholders of the corporation. If the meeting is to be
held at a place, then the list shall be produced and kept at the place of the meeting during the whole time of the meeting, and, subject to Section 180.1602(2)(b) 3 to 5 of the
Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, may be inspected or copied by any shareholder or his or her agent or attorney during regular business hours and at his or her expense,
during the period that it is available for inspection hereunder. The original stock transfer books and nominee certificates on file with the corporation (if any) shall be prima
facie evidence as to who are the shareholders entitled to inspect the shareholder list or to vote at any meeting of shareholders. Failure to comply with the requirements of
this section shall not affect the validity of any action taken at such meeting.

2.07. Quorum. Except as otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation or in the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, a majority of the votes
entitled to be cast by shares entitled to vote as a separate voting group on a matter, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum of that voting group for
action on that matter at a meeting of shareholders. Once a share is represented for any purpose at a meeting, other than for the purpose of objecting to holding the meeting or
transacting business at the meeting, it is considered present for



purposes of determining whether a quorum exists for the remainder of the meeting and for any adjournment of that meeting unless a new record date is or must be set for
that meeting.

2.08. Conduct of Meetings. The Chairman of the Board or, in his or her absence, any Officer or Director chosen by the Board of Directors shall call the
meeting of the shareholders to order and shall act as Chairman of the meeting, and the Secretary shall act as secretary of all meetings of the shareholders, but, in the absence
of the Secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any other person to act as secretary of the meeting. The Board of Directors may, to the extent not prohibited by law,
adopt by resolution such rules and regulations for the conduct of the meeting of shareholders as it shall deem appropriate. Except to the extent inconsistent with such rules
and regulations as adopted by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of any meeting of shareholders shall have the right and authority to prescribe such rules, regulations or
procedures and to do all acts as, in the judgment of the Chairman, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting. Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether
adopted by the Board of Directors or prescribed by the Chairman of the meeting, may to the extent not prohibited by law include, without limitation, the following: (i) the
establishment of an agenda or order of business for the meeting; (ii) rules and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present; (iii)
limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting to shareholders of record of the corporation, their duly authorized and constituted proxies (which shall be
reasonable in number) or such other persons as the Chairman of the meeting shall determine; (iv) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the
commencement thereof; and (v) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants.

2.09. Proxies. A shareholder entitled to vote at any Annual Meeting or Special Meeting, or to express consent or dissent in writing to any corporate
action without a meeting, may vote in person or may authorize another person to act for the shareholder by appointing the person as a proxy. The means by which a
shareholder or the shareholder's authorized officer, director, employee, agent or attorney-in-fact may authorize another person to act for the shareholder by appointing the
person as proxy include:

(a) Appointment of a proxy in writing by signing or causing the shareholder's signature to be affixed to an appointment form by any reasonable means,
including, but not limited to, by facsimile signature.

(b) Appointment of a proxy by transmitting or authorizing the transmission of an electronic transmission of the appointment to the person who will be
appointed as proxy or to a proxy solicitation firm, proxy support service organization or like agent authorized to receive the transmission by the person who will be
appointed as proxy. Every electronic transmission shall contain, or be accompanied by, information that can be used to reasonably determine that the shareholder
transmitted or authorized the transmission of the electronic transmission. Any person charged with determining whether a shareholder transmitted or authorized the
transmission of the electronic transmission shall specify the information upon which the determination is made.

An appointment of a proxy is effective when a signed appointment form or an electronic transmission of the appointment is received by the inspector of
election or the officer or agent of the corporation authorized to tabulate votes. An appointment is valid for 11 months unless a different period is expressly provided in the
appointment. An appointment of a proxy is revocable unless the appointment form or electronic transmission states that it is irrevocable and the appointment is coupled with
an interest. The presence of a shareholder who has made an effective proxy appointment shall not of itself constitute a revocation. The Board of Directors shall have the
power and authority to make rules that are not inconsistent with the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law as to the validity and sufficiency of proxy appointments.

2.10. Voting of Shares. Each outstanding share shall be entitled to one (1) vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of shareholders, except
to the extent that the voting rights of the shares are enlarged, limited or denied by the Articles of Incorporation or the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law. Shares of this
corporation owned directly or indirectly by another corporation are not entitled to vote if this corporation owns, directly or indirectly, sufficient shares to elect a majority of
the directors of such other corporation. However, the prior sentence shall not limit the power of the corporation to vote any shares, including its own shares, held by it in a
fiduciary capacity.

2.11. No Nominee Procedures. Except as expressly provided in Section 2.12, the corporation has not established, and nothing in these Bylaws shall be
deemed to establish, any procedure by which a beneficial owner of



the corporation’s shares that are registered in the name of a nominee is recognized by the corporation as the shareholder under Section 180.0723 of the Wisconsin Business
Corporation Law.

2.12. Proxy Access for Director Nominations. The corporation shall include in its proxy statement for an annual meeting of shareholders the name,
together with the Required Information (as defined below), of any person nominated for election (a “Shareholder Nominee”) to the Board of Directors by a shareholder that
satisfies, or by a group of no more than twenty (20) shareholders that satisfy, the requirements of this Section 2.12 (an “Eligible Shareholder”), and that expressly elects at
the time of providing the notice required by this Section 2.12 (the “Nomination Notice”) to have its nominee included in the corporation’s proxy materials pursuant to this
Section 2.12. To be timely, a shareholder’s Nomination Notice must be delivered to or mailed and received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the
corporation not less than one hundred and twenty (120) days nor more than one hundred and fifty (150) days prior to the anniversary of the date of the corporation’s proxy
statement released to shareholders in connection with the previous year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the annual meeting is called for a date
that is more than thirty (30) days before or seventy (70) days after the anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting, in order to be timely the Nomination Notice must
be so received not later than the close of business on the later of one hundred and twenty (120) days in advance of such annual meeting or ten (10) days following the day on
which public disclosure of the date of the annual meeting was made. In the case of a special meeting of shareholders called for the purpose of electing directors, to be
timely, a shareholder’s Nomination Notice must be delivered to or mailed and received by the Secretary not later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following
the day on which public disclosure of the date of the special meeting was made. In no event shall the public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of an annual
meeting commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a Nomination Notice as described above.

(a) For purposes of this Section 2.12, the “Required Information” that the corporation will include in its proxy statement is (i) the information
concerning the Shareholder Nominee and the Eligible Shareholder that is required to be disclosed in the corporation’s proxy statement by the regulations promulgated under
the 1934 Act; and (ii) if the Eligible Shareholder so elects, a Statement (as defined below). To be timely, the Required Information must be delivered to or mailed and
received by the Secretary within the time period specified in this Section 2.12 for providing the Nomination Notice.

(b) The number of Shareholder Nominees (including Shareholder Nominees elected to the Board of Directors at either of the two preceding annual
meetings who are standing for re-election and any Shareholder Nominees that were submitted by an Eligible Shareholder for inclusion in the corporation’s proxy materials
pursuant to this Section 2.12 but either are subsequently withdrawn or that the Board of Directors decides to nominate as Board of Director nominees) appearing in the
corporation’s proxy materials with respect to an annual meeting of shareholders shall not exceed the greater of (i) two or (ii) twenty percent (20%) of the number of
directors in office as of the last day on which a Nomination Notice may be delivered pursuant to this Section 2.12, or if such amount is not a whole number, the closest
whole number below twenty percent (20%). In the event that one or more vacancies for any reason occurs after the last day on which a Nomination Notice may be delivered
pursuant to this Section 2.12 but before the date of the annual meeting and the Board of Directors resolves to reduce the size of the board in connection therewith, the
maximum number of Shareholder Nominees for inclusion in the corporation’s proxy materials shall be calculated based on the number of directors in office as so
reduced. In the event that the number of Shareholder Nominees submitted by Eligible Shareholders pursuant to this Section 2.12 exceeds this maximum number, each
Eligible Shareholder will select one Shareholder Nominee for inclusion in the corporation’s proxy materials until the maximum number is reached, going in order of the
amount (largest to smallest) of shares of the capital stock of the corporation each Eligible Shareholder disclosed as owned in its respective Nomination Notice submitted to
the corporation and confirmed by the corporation. If the maximum number is not reached after each Eligible Shareholder has selected one Shareholder Nominee, this
selection process will continue as many times as necessary, following the same order each time, until the maximum number is reached.

(c) For purposes of this Section 2.12, an Eligible Shareholder shall be deemed to “own” only those outstanding shares of the capital stock of the
corporation as to which the shareholder possesses both (i) the full voting and investment rights pertaining to the shares and (ii) the full economic interest in (including the
opportunity for profit and risk of loss on) such shares; provided that the number of shares calculated in accordance with clauses (i) and (ii) shall not include any shares (x)
sold by such shareholder or any of its affiliates in any transaction that has not been settled or closed, (y) borrowed by such shareholder or any of its affiliates for any
purposes or purchased by



such shareholder or any of its affiliates pursuant to an agreement to resell or (z) subject to any option, warrant, forward contract, swap, contract of sale, or other derivative or
similar agreement entered into by such shareholder or any of its affiliates, whether any such instrument or agreement is to be settled with shares or with cash based on the
notional amount or value of shares of outstanding capital stock of the corporation, in any such case which instrument or agreement has, or is intended to have, the purpose or
effect of (1) reducing in any manner, to any extent or at any time in the future, such shareholder’s or its affiliates’ full right to vote or direct the voting of any such shares,
and/or (2) hedging, offsetting or altering to any degree gain or loss arising from the full economic ownership of such shares by such shareholder or affiliate. A shareholder
shall “own” shares held in the name of a nominee or other intermediary so long as the shareholder retains the right to instruct how the shares are voted with respect to the
election of directors and possesses the full economic interest in the shares. A person’s ownership of shares shall be deemed to continue during any period in which (i) the
person has loaned such shares, provided that the person has the power to recall such loaned shares on five (5) business days’ notice and provides a representation that the
person (A) will promptly recall such loaned shares upon being notified that any of its Shareholder Nominees will be included in the corporation's proxy materials and (B)
will continue to hold such shares through the date of the annual meeting; or (ii) the person has delegated any voting power by means of a proxy, power of attorney or other
instrument or arrangement that is revocable at any time by the person. The terms “owned,” “owning” and other variations of the word “own” shall have correlative
meanings. Whether outstanding shares of the capital stock of the corporation are “owned” for these purposes shall be determined by the Board of Directors, which
determination shall be conclusive and binding on the corporation and its shareholders.

(d) An Eligible Shareholder must have owned (as defined above) continuously for at least three (3) years that number of shares of capital stock as shall
constitute three percent (3%) or more of the outstanding capital stock of the corporation (the “Required Shares”) as of both (i) a date within seven (7) days prior to the date
of the Nomination Notice and (ii) the record date for determining shareholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting. For purposes of satisfying the foregoing ownership
requirement under this Section 2.12, (i) the shares of the capital stock of the corporation owned by one or more shareholders, or by the person or persons who own shares of
the capital stock of the corporation and on whose behalf any shareholder is acting, may be aggregated, provided that the number of shareholders and other persons whose
ownership of shares of capital stock of the corporation is aggregated for such purpose shall not exceed twenty (20), and (ii) a group of funds under common management
and investment control shall be treated as one shareholder or person for this purpose. No person may be a member of more than one group of persons constituting an
Eligible Shareholder under this Section 2.12. For the avoidance of doubt, if a group of shareholders aggregates ownership of shares in order to meet the requirements under
this Section 2.12, all shares held by each shareholder constituting their contribution to the foregoing 3% threshold must be held by that shareholder continuously for at least
three (3) years as of both (i) a date within seven (7) days prior to the date of the Nomination Notice and (ii) the record date for determining shareholders entitled to vote at
the annual meeting, and evidence of such continuous ownership shall be provided as specified in this Section 2.12(d).

(e) Within the time period specified in this Section 2.12 for providing the Nomination Notice, an Eligible Shareholder must provide the following
information in writing to the Secretary of the corporation: (i) one or more written statements from the record holder of the shares (and from each intermediary through
which the shares are or have been held during the requisite three (3)-year holding period) verifying that, as of a date within seven (7) days prior to the date of the
Nomination Notice, the Eligible Shareholder owns, and has owned continuously for the preceding three (3) years, the Required Shares, and the Eligible Shareholder’s
agreement to provide, within five (5) business days after the record date for the annual meeting, written statements from the record holder and intermediaries verifying the
Eligible Shareholder’s continuous ownership of the Required Shares through the record date; (ii) the written consent of each Shareholder Nominee to being named in the
proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected, together with the information and representations that would be required to be set forth in a
shareholder’s notice of a nomination pursuant to Section 2.01; (iii) a copy of the Schedule 14N that has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as required
by Rule 14a-18 under the 1934 Act, as such rule may be amended; (iv) a representation that the Eligible Shareholder (including each member of any group of shareholders
that together is an Eligible Shareholder under this Section 2.12) (A) acquired the Required Shares in the ordinary course of business and not with the intent to change or
influence control at the corporation, and does not presently have such intent, (B) has not nominated and will not nominate for election to the Board of Directors at the annual
meeting any person other than the Shareholder Nominee(s) being nominated pursuant to this Section 2.12, (C) has not engaged and will not engage in, and has not and will
not be a “participant” in another person’s, “solicitation” within the meaning of Rule 14a-1(1) under the 1934 Act in support of the election of any individual as



a director at the annual meeting other than its Shareholder Nominee or a nominee of the Board of Directors, (D) will not distribute to any shareholder any form of proxy for
the annual meeting other than the form distributed by the corporation and (E) in the case of a nomination by a group of shareholders that together is an Eligible Shareholder,
the designation by all group members of one group member that is authorized to act on behalf of all such members with respect to the nomination and matters related
thereto, including any withdrawal of the nomination; and

(v) an undertaking that the Eligible Shareholder agrees to (A) own the Required Shares through the date of the annual meeting, (B) assume all liability stemming from any
legal or regulatory violation arising out of the Eligible Shareholder’s communications with the shareholders of the corporation or out of the information that the Eligible
Shareholder provided to the corporation, (C) indemnify and hold harmless the corporation and each of its directors, officers and employees individually against any liability,
loss or damages in connection with any threatened or pending action, suit or proceeding, whether legal, administrative or investigative, against the corporation or any of its
directors, officers or employees arising out of any nomination, solicitation or other activity by the Eligible Shareholder in connection with its efforts to elect the Shareholder
Nominee pursuant to this Section 2.12, (D) comply with all other laws and regulations applicable to any solicitation in connection with the annual meeting and (E) provide
to the corporation prior to the annual meeting such additional information as necessary with respect thereto.

® The Eligible Shareholder may provide to the Secretary of the corporation, at the time the information required by this Section 2.12 is provided, a
written statement for inclusion in the corporation’s proxy statement for the annual meeting, not to exceed five hundred (500) words, in support of the Shareholder
Nominee’s candidacy (the “Statement”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 2.12, the corporation may omit from its proxy materials any
information or Statement (or portion thereof) that it, in good faith, believes would violate any applicable law or regulation.

(g Within the time period specified in this Section 2.12 for delivering the Nomination Notice, a Shareholder Nominee must deliver to the Secretary of
the corporation a written representation and agreement that the Shareholder Nominee (i) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding
with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person, if elected as a director of the corporation, will act or vote on any issue
or question that has not been disclosed to the corporation, (ii) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity
other than the corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection with service or action as a director that has
not been disclosed to the corporation, and (iii) will comply with all the corporation’s corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality and stock ownership and
trading policies and guidelines, and any other corporation policies and guidelines applicable to directors, as well as any applicable law, rule or regulation or listing
requirement. At the request of the corporation, the Shareholder Nominee must submit all completed and signed questionnaires required of the corporation’s directors and
officers. The corporation may request such additional information as necessary to permit the Board of Directors to determine if each Shareholder Nominee is independent
under the listing standards of the principal U.S. exchange upon which the corporation’s capital stock is listed, any applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and any publicly disclosed standards used by the Board of Directors in determining and disclosing the independence of the corporation’s directors (the
“Applicable Independence Standards”). If the Board of Directors determines that the Shareholder Nominee is not independent under the Applicable Independence
Standards, the Shareholder Nominee will not be eligible for inclusion in the corporation’s proxy materials.

(h) Any Shareholder Nominee who is included in the corporation’s proxy materials for a particular annual meeting of shareholders but either (i) withdraws
from or becomes ineligible or unavailable for election at the annual meeting, or (ii) does not receive at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the votes cast “for” the
Shareholder Nominee’s election, will be ineligible to be a Shareholder Nominee pursuant to this Section 2.12 for the next two (2) annual meetings.

(i) The corporation shall not be required to include, pursuant to this Section 2.12, any Shareholder Nominees in its proxy materials for any meeting of
shareholders (i) for which the Secretary of corporation receives a notice that a shareholder has nominated a person for election to the Board of Directors pursuant to the
advance notice requirements for shareholder nominees for director set forth in Section 2.01 and such shareholder does not expressly elect at the time of providing the notice
to have its nominee included in the corporation’s proxy materials pursuant to this Section 2.12, (ii) if the Eligible Shareholder who has nominated such Shareholder
Nominee has



engaged in or is currently engaged in, or has been or is a “participant” in another person’s, “solicitation” within the meaning of Rule 14a-1(1) under the 1934 Act in support
of the election of any individual as a director at the meeting other than its Shareholder Nominee(s) or a nominee of the Board of Directors, (iii) who is not independent under
the Applicable Independence Standards, as determined by the Board of Directors, (iv) whose election as a member of the Board of Directors would cause the corporation to
be in violation of these By-Laws, the Certificate of Incorporation, the listing standards of the principal exchange upon which the corporation’s capital stock is traded, or any
applicable law, rule or regulation, (v) who is or has been, within the past three years, an officer or director of a competitor, as defined in Section 8 of the Clayton Antitrust
Act of 1914, (vi) who is a named subject of a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses) or has been convicted in such a criminal
proceeding within the past ten (10) years, (vii) who is subject to any order of the type specified in Rule 506(d) of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, (viii) if such Shareholder Nominee or the applicable Eligible Shareholder shall have provided information to the corporation in respect to such
nomination that was untrue in any material respect or omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statement made, in light of the circumstances under
which it was made, not misleading, as determined by the Board of Directors, or (ix) if the Eligible Shareholder or applicable Shareholder Nominee otherwise contravenes
any of the agreements or representations made by such Eligible Shareholder or Shareholder Nominee or fails to comply with its obligations pursuant to this Section 2.12.

) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Board of Directors or the person presiding at the meeting shall declare a nomination
by an Eligible Shareholder to be invalid, and such nomination shall be disregarded notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the
corporation, if (i) the Shareholder Nominee(s) and/or the applicable Eligible Shareholder shall have breached its or their obligations, agreements or representations under
this Section 2.12, as determined by the Board of Directors or the person presiding at the annual meeting of shareholders, or (ii) the Eligible Shareholder (or a qualified
representative thereof) does not appear at the annual meeting of shareholders to present any nomination pursuant to this Section 2.12.

(k) The Eligible Shareholder (including any person who owns shares of capital stock of the corporation that constitute part of the Eligible
Shareholder’s ownership for purposes of satisfying Section 2.12(d) hereof) shall file with the Securities and Exchange Commission any solicitation or other communication
with the corporation’s shareholders relating to the meeting at which the Shareholder Nominee will be nominated, regardless of whether any such filing is required under
Regulation 14A of the 1934 Act or whether any exemption from filing is available for such solicitation or other communication under Regulation 14A of the 1934 Act.

ARTICLE 1II
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
3.01. General Powers. All corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the business and affairs of the corporation shall be
managed under the direction of, its Board of Directors.
3.02. Resignations and Qualifications. A director may resign at any time by delivering a written resignation to the Board of Directors, to the Chairman

of the Board, or to the corporation through the Secretary or otherwise. Directors need not be residents of the State of Wisconsin or shareholders of the corporation.

3.03. Regular Meetings. The Board of Directors may provide, by resolution, the time and place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, for the
holding of regular meetings without other notice than such resolution.

3.04. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the Chairman of the Board or any two (2)
directors. Special meetings of any committee may be called by or at the request of the foregoing persons or the Chairman of the committee. The persons calling any special
meeting of the Board of Directors or committee may fix any place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, as the place for holding any special meeting called by
them, and if no other place is fixed the place of meeting shall be the principal office of the corporation in the State of Wisconsin.



3.05. Meetings By Telephone or Other Communication Technology.

(a) Any or all directors may participate in a regular or special meeting or in a committee meeting of the Board of Directors by, or conduct the meeting t
the use of, telephone or any other means of communication by which either: (i) all participating directors may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting or (ii) all
communication during the meeting is immediately transmitted to each participating director, and each participating director is able to immediately send messages to all other
participating directors.

(b) If a meeting will be conducted through the use of any means described in paragraph (a), all participating directors shall be informed that a meeting
is taking place at which official business may be transacted. A director participating in a meeting by any means described in paragraph (a) is deemed to be present in person
at the meeting.

3.06. Notice of Meetings. Except as otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation or the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, notice of the date,
time and place of any special meeting of the Board of Directors and of any special meeting of a committee of the Board shall be given orally or in writing to each director or
committee member at least by the calendar day prior to the meeting. The notice need not describe the purpose of the meeting. Notice may be communicated in person, by
telephone, telegraph, e-mail, facsimile or other form of electronic transmission, or by mail or private carrier. Oral notice is effective when communicated to the director or
to any person answering the director’s business or home telephone, or when left on the director’s answering machine or voice-mail system at home or place of business.
Written notice is effective at the earliest of the following: (a) when received; (b) five days after its deposit in the U.S. Mail, if mailed postpaid and correctly addressed; (c)
on the date shown on the return receipt, if sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and the receipt is signed by or on behalf of the addressee; (d) at the
time a facsimile, e-mail or other electronic transmission is completed, if sent to the director’s home or business number or e-mail address. Except as otherwise provided by
law or these Bylaws, meetings may be held at any time without notice if all of the directors are present or if, at any time before or after the meeting, those not present waive
notice of the meeting in writing.

3.07. Quorum and Adjournment. Except as otherwise provided by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, a majority of the number of directors
specified in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation shall constitute a quorum of the Board of Directors. Except as otherwise provided by the Wisconsin Business
Corporation Law, a majority of the number of directors appointed to serve on a committee shall constitute a quorum of the committee. If a quorum is not present at any
meeting of directors, the directors present may adjourn the meeting, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present.

3.08. Manner of Acting. Except as otherwise provided by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law or the Articles of Incorporation, the affirmative
vote of a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof.

3.09. Conduct of Meetings. The Chairman of the Board, or in his or her absence, any director chosen by the directors present, shall call meetings of the
Board of Directors to order and shall chair the meeting. The Secretary of the corporation shall act as secretary of all meetings of the Board of Directors, but in the absence of
the Secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any assistant secretary or any director or other person present to act as secretary of the meeting.

3.10. Vacancies. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors shall be filled in the manner provided in the Articles of Incorporation.

3.11. Compensation. The Board of Directors, irrespective of any personal interest of any of its members, may fix the compensation of directors for
services to the corporation as directors, officers or otherwise, or may delegate such authority to an appropriate committee. The Board of Directors also shall have authority
to provide for or to delegate authority to an appropriate committee to provide for benefits or payments to directors and to their estates, families, dependents or beneficiaries
on account of prior services rendered by such directors to the corporation. Members of the Board shall be allowed their reasonable traveling expenses when actually
engaged in the business of the corporation. Members of any committee may be allowed like fees and expenses for attending



committee meetings. Nothing in these Bylaws shall be construed to preclude any director from serving the corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation
therefor.

3.12. Presumption of Assent. A director who is present and is announced as present at a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee thereof at
which action on any corporate matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless otherwise specified in Section 180.0824(4) of the Wisconsin
Business Corporation Law. Such right to dissent or abstain shall not apply to a director who voted in favor of such action.

3.13. Committees. Unless the Articles of Incorporation otherwise provide, the Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a
majority of all the directors then in office, may create one (1) or more committees, each committee to consist of two (2) or more directors as members, which to the extent
provided in the resolution as initially adopted, and as thereafter supplemented or amended by further resolution adopted by a like vote, may exercise the authority of the
Board of Directors, except that no committee may: (a) approve or recommend to shareholders for approval any action or matter expressly required by the Wisconsin
Business Corporation Law to be submitted to shareholders for approval; or (b) adopt, amend or repeal Bylaws. The Board of Directors may elect one or more of its members
as alternate members of any such committee who may take the place of any absent member or members at any meeting of such committee, upon request by the Chairman of
the Board or the Chairman of such meeting. Each such committee shall fix its own rules (consistent with the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, the Articles of
Incorporation and these Bylaws) governing the conduct of its activities and shall make such reports to the Board of Directors of its activities as the Board of Directors may
request. Unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors in creating a committee, a committee may employ counsel, accountants and other consultants to assist it in the
exercise of authority.

ARTICLE IV
OFFICERS

4.01. Appointment. The principal officers may include a Chairman of the Board, a Vice Chairman, a Chief Executive Officer, a President, a Chief
Operating Officer, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers if any, as may be deemed necessary by the Board of Directors, each of whom shall be appointed by the
Board of Directors. The officers may also include one or more Vice Presidents who may be appointed and have such designations as are determined by or at the direction of
the Board of Directors or the Chairman of the Board, Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President or Chief Operating Officer. Any two or more offices may be held
by the same person. The Board of Directors may choose not to fill any office for any period as it may deem advisable. None of the officers need be a director, a shareholder
of the corporation or a resident of Wisconsin.

4.02. Resignation and Removal. An officer shall hold office until he or she resigns, dies, is removed hereunder, or a different person is appointed to the
office. An officer may resign at any time by delivering an appropriate written notice to the corporation. The resignation is effective when the notice is delivered, unless the
notice specifies a later effective date and the corporation accepts the later effective date. Any officer may be removed by the Board of Directors with or without cause and
notwithstanding the contract rights, if any, of the person removed. The Chairman of the Board, Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President or Chief Operating
Officer may also remove any of the other officers with or without cause and notwithstanding the contract rights, if any, of the person removed. Except as provided in the
preceding sentence, the resignation or removal is subject to any remedies provided by any contract between the officer and the corporation or otherwise provided by law.
Appointment shall not of itself create contract rights.

4.03. Chairman of the Board. The Chairman of the Board shall preside at all annual and special meetings of shareholders and all regular and special
meetings of the Board of Directors, shall advise and counsel with the Chief Executive Officer and shall be responsible for the administration and management of the areas of
the business and affairs of the corporation assigned to him or her from time to time by the Board of Directors.

4.04. Vice Chairman. The Vice Chairman shall advise and counsel with the Chief Executive Officer and shall be responsible for the administration and
management of the areas of the business and affairs of the corporation assigned to him or her from time to time by the Board of Directors.



4.05. Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer shall be the principal executive officer of the corporation and, subject to the control of the
Board of Directors, shall have general supervision and control of the business and affairs of the corporation and its officers. The Chief Executive Officer shall have the
authority, subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, to appoint such agents and employees of the corporation as the Chief Executive Officer
deems necessary, prescribe their powers, duties and compensation, and delegate authority to them. Such agents and employees shall hold offices at the discretion of the
Chief Executive Officer. In general, the Chief Executive Officer shall have all authority and perform all duties incident to the office of the chief executive officer and such
other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, Chairman of the Board or Vice Chairman from time to time.

4.06. President. In the absence of the Chief Executive Officer or in the event of his death, inability or refusal to act, the President shall perform the
duties of the Chief Executive Officer, and when so acting shall have all the powers and duties of the Chief Executive Officer. In addition, the President shall be responsible
for the administration and management of the areas of the business and affairs of the Corporation assigned to him from to time by the Board of Directors or the Chief
Executive Officer.

4.07. Chief Operating Officer. The Chief Operating Officer shall be the chief operating officer of the corporation. He shall supervise the day to day
operations of the corporation's business, manage the administrative and operating affairs of the corporation, and direct and assign duties to those officers and agents of the
corporation who are engaged in the administrative and operating affairs of the corporation. He shall have the authority, subject to such rules, directions or orders as may be
prescribed by the Chief Executive Officer or the Board of Directors, to appoint and terminate the appointment of such agents and employees of the corporation as he shall
deem necessary, to prescribe their power, duties and compensation and to delegate authority to them. The Chief Operating Officer shall perform such other duties as may be
prescribed from time to time by the Chief Executive Officer or the Board of Directors.

4.08. Shared Duties of Chairman of the Board, Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Olfficer, President and Chief Operating Officer. The Chairman of the
Board, Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Operating Officer are each severally authorized to sign, execute and acknowledge, on behalf of the
corporation, all deeds, mortgages, bonds, stock certificates, contracts, leases, reports and all other documents or instruments necessary or proper to be executed in the course
of the corporation’s regular business, or which shall be authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors; and, except as otherwise provided by law or directed by the
Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Operating Officer may authorize any Vice President or other
officer or agent of the corporation to sign, execute and acknowledge such documents or instruments in his or her place and stead.

4.09. Vice Presidents. One or more of the Vice Presidents may be designated as Executive Vice President or Senior Vice President. In the absence of
the President or in the event of his death, inability or refusal to act, the Vice Presidents in the order designated at the time of their election, shall perform the duties of the
President and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. Any Vice President may sign with the Secretary or
Assistant Secretary certificates for shares of the corporation. Any Vice President shall have charge of such divisions or departments of the corporation and perform such
other duties and have such authority as are incident to the office of Vice President or as may be delegated or assigned from time to time by the Board of Directors, the
Chairman of the Board, the Vice Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Chief Operating Officer. The execution of any instrument of the corporation by
any Vice President shall be conclusive evidence, as to third parties, of the Vice President’s authority to act and to execute such instrument.

4.10. Secretary. The Secretary shall: (a) keep (or cause to be kept) regular minutes of all meetings of the shareholders, the Board of Directors and any
committees of the Board of Directors in one or more books provided for that purpose; (b) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these
Bylaws or as required by law; (c) be custodian of the corporate records and of the seal of the corporation, if any, and see that the seal of the corporation, if any, is affixed to
all documents which are authorized to be executed on behalf of the corporation under its seal; (d) keep or arrange for the keeping of a register of the post office address of
each shareholder which shall be furnished to the Secretary by such shareholder; (e) sign certificates for shares of the corporation, the issuance of which shall have been
authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors; (f) have



general charge of the stock transfer books of the corporation; and (g) in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and have such other duties and exercise
such authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned to him or her by the Chairman of the Board, the Vice Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the
President, the Chief Operating Oftficer or the Board of Directors.

4.11. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall: (a) have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the corporation; (b) receive and
give receipts for moneys due and payable to the corporation from any source whatsoever, and deposit all such moneys in the name of the corporation in such banks, trust
companies or other depositories as shall be selected by the corporation; and (c) in general perform all of the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and have such other
duties and exercise such other authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned to him or her by the Chairman of the Board, the Vice Chairman, the Chief
Executive Officer, the President, the Chief Operating Officer or the Board of Directors.

4.12. Assistants and Acting Officers. The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Operating Officer shall each have
the power to appoint any person to act as assistant to any officer, or as agent for the corporation in the officer’s stead, or to perform the duties of such officer whenever for
any reason it is impracticable for such officer to act personally, and such assistant or acting officer or other agent so appointed shall have the power to perform all the duties
of the office to which that person is so appointed to be assistant, or as to which he or she is so appointed to act, except as such power may be otherwise defined or restricted
by the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer, President or Chief Operating Officer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such appointment shall not relieve the
principal officer from the responsibilities and liabilities of his or her office.

4.13. Salaries. The salaries of the officers shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors or by a duly authorized committee thereof, and no
officer shall be prevented from receiving such salary by reason of the fact that such officer is also a director of the corporation or a member of such committee.

ARTICLE V
CERTIFICATES FOR SHARES AND THEIR TRANSFER

5.01. Certificates for Shares. Subject to Section 5.08, certificates representing shares of the corporation shall be signed, either manually or in
facsimile, by any one or more of the Chairman of the Board, the Vice Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, the Chief Operating Officer or a Vice President.
All certificates for shares shall be consecutively numbered or otherwise identified. The name and address of the person to whom the shares represented thereby are issued,
with the number of shares and date of issue, shall be entered on the stock transfer books of the corporation.

5.02. Signature by Former Officer, Transfer Agent or Registrar. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile
signature has been placed upon any certificate for shares has ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, the certificate may be
issued by the corporation with the same effect as if that person were still an officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of its issue.

5.03. Transfer of Shares. Unless the corporation has established a procedure by which a beneficial owner of shares held by a nominee is to be
recognized by the corporation as the shareholder, the corporation may treat the registered owner of such shares as the person exclusively entitled to vote, to receive
notifications and otherwise to have and exercise all the rights and power of an owner. Accordingly, the corporation shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other
claim to or interest in such shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it has express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by Wisconsin law. The
corporation may require reasonable assurance that all transfer endorsements are genuine and effective and in compliance with all regulations prescribed by or under the
authority of the Board of Directors.

5.04. Restrictions on Transfer. The face or reverse side of each certificate representing shares shall bear a conspicuous notation of any restriction upon
the transfer of such shares imposed by the corporation If such restriction is set forth conspicuously on the certificates representing the shares or, in the case of uncertificated
shares, is contained in a notice sent pursuant to Section 180.0626(2) of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law,



the corporation or the transfer agent shall not be required to transfer such shares upon the books of the corporation without receipt of satisfactory evidence of compliance
with the terms of such restriction.

5.05. Lost, Destroyed or Stolen Certificates. Where the owner claims that his or her certificate for shares has been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken,
a new certificate or uncertificated shares to be issued in place of any certificate theretofore issued by the corporation shall be issued in place thereof if the owner (a) so
requests before the corporation has notice that such shares have been acquired by a bona fide purchaser; and (b) if required by the corporation, files with the corporation a
sufficient indemnity bond; and (c) satisfies such other reasonable requirements as may be prescribed by or under the authority of the Board of Directors.

5.06. Consideration for Shares. The shares of the corporation may be issued for such consideration as shall be fixed from time to time and determined
to be adequate by the Board of Directors, provided that any shares having a par value shall not be issued for a consideration less than the par value thereof. The
consideration may consist of any tangible or intangible property or benefit to the corporation, including cash, promissory notes, services performed, contracts for services to
be performed, or other securities of the corporation. When the corporation receives the consideration for which the Board of Directors authorized the issuance of shares,
such shares shall be deemed to be fully paid and nonassessable.

5.07. Stock Regulations. The Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to make all such rules and regulations not inconsistent with the
statutes of the State of Wisconsin as it may deem expedient concerning the issue, transfer and registration of shares of the corporation, including the appointment or
designation of one or more stock transfer agents and one or more registrars.

5.08. Shares Without Certificates. Shares representing any class or series of the corporation may be issued without certificates in accordance with
Section 180.0626 of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law or any successor provision thereto. Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of shares without
certificates, the corporation shall send the shareholder a written statement that includes (1) all of the information required on share certificates and (2) any transfer
restrictions applicable to the shares.

ARTICLE VI
WAIVER OF NOTICE

6.01. Shareholder Written Waiver. A shareholder may waive any notice required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, the Articles of
Incorporation or these Bylaws before or after the date and time stated in the notice. The waiver shall be in writing and signed by the shareholder entitled to the notice, shall
contain the same information that would have been required in the notice under the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law except that the time and place of meeting need not
be stated, and shall be delivered to the corporation for inclusion in the corporate records.

6.02. Shareholder Waiver by Attendance. A shareholder’s attendance at a meeting, in person or by proxy, waives objection to both of the following:

() Lack of notice or defective notice of the meeting, unless the shareholder at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon arrival objects to holding
the meeting or transacting business at the meeting.

(b) Consideration of a particular matter at the meeting that is not within the purpose described in the meeting notice, unless the shareholder objects to
considering the matter when it is presented.

6.03. Director Written Waiver. A director may waive any notice required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, the Articles of Incorporation or
these Bylaws before or after the date and time stated in the notice. The waiver shall be in writing, signed by the director entitled to the notice and retained by the
corporation.

6.04. Director Waiver by Attendance. A director’s attendance at or participation in a meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof
waives any required notice to him or her of the meeting unless the director at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon his or her arrival objects to holding the meeting
or transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting.



ARTICLE VII
ACTION WITHOUT MEETINGS

7.01. Director Action Without Meeting. Unless the Articles of Incorporation provide otherwise, action required or permitted by the Wisconsin
Business Corporation Law to be taken at a Board of Directors meeting or committee meeting may be taken without a meeting if the action is taken by all members of the
Board or committee. The action shall be evidenced by one or more written consents describing the action taken, signed by each director and retained by the corporation.
Action taken hereunder is effective when the last director signs the consent, unless the consent specifies a different effective date. A consent signed hereunder has the effect
of a unanimous vote taken at a meeting at which all directors or committee members were present, and may be described as such in any document.

ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION

8.01. Indemnification for Successful Defense. Within twenty (20) days after receipt of a written request pursuant to Section 8.03, the corporation shall
indemnify a director or officer, to the extent he or she has been successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of a proceeding, for all reasonable expenses incurred in
the proceeding if the director or officer was a party because he or she is a director or officer of the corporation.

8.02. Other Indemnification.
(a) In cases not included under Section 8.01, the corporation shall indemnify a director or officer against all liabilities and expenses incurred by the
director or officer in a proceeding to which the director or officer was a party because he or she is a director or officer of the corporation, unless liability was incurred

because the director or officer breached or failed to perform a duty he or she owes to the corporation and the breach or failure to perform constitutes any of the following:

1) A willful failure to deal fairly with the corporation or its shareholders in connection with a matter in which the director or officer has
a material conflict of interest.

2) A violation of criminal law, unless the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was lawful or no
reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful.

3) A transaction from which the director or officer derived an improper personal profit.
@) Willful misconduct.
(b) Determination of whether indemnification is required under this Section shall be made pursuant to Section 8.05.
(c) The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement or conviction, or upon a plea of no contest or an equivalent plea, does not, by itself,

create a presumption that indemnification of the director or officer is not required under this Section.
8.03. Written Request. A director or officer who seeks indemnification under Sections 8.01 or 8.02 shall make a written request to the corporation.
8.04. Nonduplication. The corporation shall not indemnify a director or officer under Sections 8.01 or 8.02 if the director or officer has previously

received indemnification or allowance of expenses from any person, including the corporation, in connection with the same proceeding. However, the director or officer has
no duty to look to any other person for indemnification.



8.05. Determination of Right to Indemnification.

(a) Unless otherwise provided by the Articles of Incorporation or by written agreement between the director or officer and the corporation, the director
or officer seeking indemnification under Section 8.02 shall select one of the following means for determining his or her right to indemnification:

(1) By a majority vote of a quorum of the Board of Directors consisting of directors not at the time parties to the same or related
proceedings. If a quorum of disinterested directors cannot be obtained, by majority vote of a committee duly appointed by the Board of Directors and
consisting solely of two (2) or more directors who are not at the time parties to the same or related proceedings. Directors who are parties to the same or related
proceedings may participate in the designation of members of the committee.

2) By independent legal counsel selected by a quorum of the Board of Directors or its committee in the manner prescribed in sub. (1) or,
if unable to obtain such a quorum or committee, by a majority vote of the full Board of Directors, including directors who are parties to the same or related
proceedings.

3) By a panel of three (3) arbitrators consisting of one arbitrator selected by those directors entitled under sub. (2) to select independent

legal counsel, one arbitrator selected by the director or officer seeking indemnification and one arbitrator selected by the two (2) arbitrators previously selected.

4 By an affirmative vote of shares represented at a meeting of shareholders at which a quorum of the voting group entitled to vote
thereon is present. Shares owned by, or voted under the control of, persons who are at the time parties to the same or related proceedings, whether as plaintiffs
or defendants or in any other capacity, may not be voted in making the determination.

5) By a court under Section 8.08.
(6) By any other method provided for in any additional right to indemnification permitted under Section 8.07.
(b) In any determination under (a), the burden of proof is on the corporation to prove by clear and convincing evidence that indemnification under

Section 8.02 should not be allowed.

(c) A written determination as to a director’s or officer’s indemnification under Section 8.02 shall be submitted to both the corporation and the director
or officer within 60 days of the selection made under (a).

(d) If it is determined that indemnification is required under Section 8.02, the corporation shall pay all liabilities and expenses not prohibited by
Section 8.04 within ten (10) days after receipt of the written determination under (c). The corporation shall also pay all expenses incurred by the director or officer in the
determination process under (a).

8.06. Advance of Expenses. Within ten (10) days after receipt of a written request by a director or officer who is a party to a proceeding, the
corporation shall pay or reimburse his or her reasonable expenses as incurred if the director or officer provides the corporation with all of the following:

(1) A written affirmation of his or her good faith belief that he or she has not breached or failed to perform his or her duties to the
corporation.

2) A written undertaking, executed personally or on his or her behalf, to repay the allowance to the extent that it is ultimately determined
Section 8.05 that indemnification under Section 8.02 is not required and that indemnification is not ordered by a court. The undertaking under this subsection
shall be an unlimited general obligation of the director or officer and shall be accepted without reference to his or her ability to repay the allowance. The
undertaking shall be unsecured.



8.07. Nonexclusivity.

(a) Except as provided in (b), Sections 8.01, 8.02 and 8.06 do not preclude any additional right to indemnification or allowance of expenses that a
director or officer may have under any of the following:

(1) The Articles of Incorporation.
2) A written agreement between the director or officer and the corporation.
3) A resolution of the Board of Directors.
@) A resolution, after notice, adopted by a majority vote of all of the corporation’s voting shares then issued and outstanding.
(b) Regardless of the existence of an additional right under (a), the corporation shall not indemnify a director or officer, or permit a director or officer

to retain any allowance of expenses unless it is determined by or on behalf of the corporation that the director or officer did not breach or fail to perform a duty he or she
owes to the corporation which constitutes conduct under Section 8.02(a)(1), (2), (3) or (4). A director or officer who is a party to the same or related proceedings for which
indemnification or an allowance of expenses is sought may not participate in a determination under this subsection.

(c) Sections 8.01 to 8.14 do not affect the corporation’s power to pay or reimburse expenses incurred by a director or officer in any of the following
circumstances.
1) As a witness in a proceeding to which he or she is not a party.
2) As a plaintiff or petitioner in a proceeding because he or she is or was an employee, agent, director or officer of the corporation.
8.08. Court-Ordered Indemnification.
(a) Except as provided otherwise by written agreement between the director or officer and the corporation, a director or officer who is a party to a proce

may apply for indemnification to the court conducting the proceeding or to another court of competent jurisdiction. Application shall be made for an initial determination by
the court under Section 8.05(a)(5) or for review by the court of an adverse determination under Section 8.05(a)(1), (2), (3), (4) or (6).

(b) If the court determines that the director or officer is entitled to indemnification, the corporation shall pay the director’s or officer’s expenses
incurred to obtain the court-ordered indemnification.

8.09. Indemnification and Allowance of Expenses of Employees and Agents. The corporation shall indemnify an employee of the corporation who is
not a director or officer of the corporation, to the extent that he or she has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of a proceeding, for all reasonable expenses
incurred in the proceeding if the employee was a party because he or she was an employee of the corporation. In addition, the corporation may indemnify and allow
reasonable expenses of an employee or agent who is not a director or officer of the corporation to the extent provided by the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, by
general or specific action of the Board of Directors or by contract.

8.10. Insurance. The corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of an individual who is an employee, agent, director or officer of the
corporation against liability asserted against or incurred by the individual in his or her capacity as an employee, agent, director or officer, regardless of whether the
corporation is required or authorized to indemnify or allow expenses to the individual against the same liability under Sections 8.01, 8.02, 8.06, 8.07 and 8.09.



8.11. Securities Law Claims.

(a) Pursuant to the public policy of the State of Wisconsin, the corporation shall provide indemnification and allowance of expenses and may insure
for any liability incurred in connection with a proceeding involving securities regulation described under (b) to the extent required or permitted under Sections 8.01 to 8.10.

(b) Sections 8.01 to 8.10 apply, to the extent applicable to any other proceeding, to any proceeding involving a federal or state statute, rule or
regulation regulating the offer, sale or purchase of securities, securities brokers or dealers, or investment companies or investment advisers.

8.12. Liberal Construction. In order for the corporation to obtain and retain qualified directors, officers and employees, the foregoing provisions shall
be liberally administered in order to afford maximum indemnification of directors, officers and, where Section 8.09 of these Bylaws applies, employees. The
indemnification above provided for shall be granted in all applicable cases unless to do so would clearly contravene law, controlling precedent or public policy.

8.13. Effect of Repeal, Amendment or Limitation of Indemnification Provisions. The provisions of this Article VIII shall be deemed to be a contract
between the corporation and each director, officer and employee of the corporation, and any repeal, amendment or other limitation of this Article or any repeal, amendment
or limitation of sections 180.0850 to 180.0859 of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law or any other applicable law shall not limit any rights of indemnification against
liabilities or allowance of expenses then existing or arising out of events, acts or omissions occurring prior to such repeal, amendment or limitation, including, without
limitation, the right to indemnification against liabilities or allowance of expenses for proceedings commenced after such repeal, amendment or limitation to enforce this
Article VIII with regard to acts, omissions or events arising prior to such repeal, amendment or limitation.

8.14. Definitions Applicable to this Article. For purposes of this Article:

(a) “Affiliate” shall include, without limitation, any corporation, partnership, joint venture, employee benefit plan, trust or other enterprise that directly
or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by, or is under common control with, the corporation.

(b) “Corporation” means this corporation and any domestic or foreign predecessor of this corporation where the predecessor corporation’s existence
ceased upon the consummation of a merger or other transaction.

(c) “Director or officer” means any of the following:
1) An individual who is or was a director or officer of this corporation.
2) An individual who, while a director or officer of this corporation, is or was serving at the corporation’s request as a director, officer,

partner, trustee, member of any governing or decision-making committee, employee or agent of another corporation or foreign corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise.

3) An individual who, while a director or officer of this corporation, is or was serving an employee benefit plan because his or her duties
to the corporation also impose duties on, or otherwise involve services by, the person to the plan or to participants in or beneficiaries of the plan.

4) Unless the context requires otherwise, the estate or personal representative of a director or officer.

For purposes of this Article, it shall be conclusively presumed that any director or officer serving as a director, officer, partner, trustee, member of any
governing or decision-making committee, employee or agent of an affiliate shall be so serving at the request of the corporation.



(d) “Expenses” include fees, costs, charges, disbursements, attorney fees and other expenses incurred in connection with a proceeding.

(e) “Liability” includes the obligation to pay a judgment, settlement, penalty, assessment, forfeiture or fine, including an excise tax assessed with
respect to an employee benefit plan, and reasonable expenses.

® “Party” includes an individual who was or is, or who is threatened to be made, a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding.

(g) “Proceeding” means any threatened, pending or completed civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit, arbitration or other
proceeding, whether formal or informal, which involves foreign, federal, state or local law and which is brought by or in the right of the corporation or by any other person.

ARTICLE IX
FORUM FOR ADJUDICATION OF CERTAIN DISPUTES

9.01. Exclusive Forum. Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any
derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other
employee or agent of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation’s shareholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the
Wisconsin Business Corporation Law or the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws (as either may be amended from time to time), or (iv) any action
asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the Circuit Court for Waukesha County, Wisconsin or U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of
Wisconsin — Milwaukee Division, in all cases subject to such court’s having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. Any person or entity
purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of this Section
9.01.

ARTICLE X
SEAL
10.01. Seal. The Board of Directors may provide a corporate seal which may be circular in form and have inscribed thereon the name of the
corporation and the state of incorporation and the words “Corporate Seal.”
ARTICLE XI
AMENDMENTS
11.01. By Shareholders. These Bylaws may be amended or repealed and new Bylaws may be adopted by the shareholders. In accordance with Article

VI of the corporation’s Articles of Incorporation, shareholder action to amend Article II or Article VIII of these Bylaws requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the
combined voting power of the then outstanding shares entitled to vote on the matter, voting together as a single class.

11.02. By Directors. Except as the Articles of Incorporation may otherwise provide, these Bylaws may also be amended or repealed and new Bylaws
may be adopted by the Board of Directors by the vote provided in Section 3.08, but (a) no Bylaw adopted by the shareholders shall be amended, repealed or readopted by
the Board of Directors if the Bylaw so adopted so provides and (b) a Bylaw adopted or amended by the shareholders that fixes a greater or lower quorum requirement or a
greater voting requirement for the Board of Directors than otherwise is provided in the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law may not be amended or repealed by the Board
of Directors unless the Bylaw expressly provides that it may be amended or repealed by a specified vote of the Board of Directors. Action by the Board of Directors to adopt
or amend a Bylaw that changes the quorum or voting requirement for the Board of Directors must meet the same quorum requirement and be adopted by the same vote
required to take action under the quorum and voting requirement then in effect, unless a different voting requirement is specified as provided by the preceding sentence. A
Bylaw that fixes a greater or lower quorum requirement or a greater voting requirement for shareholders or voting groups of shareholders than otherwise is provided in the
Wisconsin Business Corporation Law may not be adopted, amended or repealed by the Board of Directors.



11.03. Implied Amendments. Any action taken or authorized by the shareholders or by the Board of Directors, which would be inconsistent with the
Bylaws then in effect but is taken or authorized by a vote that would be sufficient to amend the Bylaws so that the Bylaws would be consistent with such action, shall be
given the same effect as though the Bylaws had been temporarily amended or suspended so far, but only so far, as is necessary to permit the specific action so taken or
authorized.

11.04. Limitation or Repeal of Indemnification Provisions. The effect of any repeal, amendment or other limitation of Article VIII of these Bylaws
shall be limited as set forth in Section 8.13.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michelle Gass, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Kohl's Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: June 5, 2020 /s/ Michelle Gass

Michelle Gass
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jill Timm, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Kohl's Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: June 5, 2020 /s/ Jill Timm

Jill Timm
Senior Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michelle Gass, Chief Executive Officer of Kohl's Corporation (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, that, to the undersigned's knowledge, on the date of this Certification:

1. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended May 2, 2020 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. That the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: June 5, 2020 /sl Michelle Gass

Michelle Gass
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

BY CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jill Timm, Senior Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of Kohl's Corporation (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that, to the undersigned's knowledge, on the date of this Certification:

1. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended May 2, 2020 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. That the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: June 5, 2020 /s/ Jill Timm

Jill Timm
Senior Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



